University of Wisconsin Milwaukee UWM Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

May 2014

Impact of FAAH Genotype and Marijuana Use on Brain Structure and Neuropsychological Performance in Emerging Adults

Skyler Gabriel Shollenbarger University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.uwm.edu/etd Part of the <u>Biological Psychology Commons</u>, and the <u>Neuroscience and Neurobiology</u> <u>Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Shollenbarger, Skyler Gabriel, "Impact of FAAH Genotype and Marijuana Use on Brain Structure and Neuropsychological Performance in Emerging Adults" (2014). *Theses and Dissertations*. 761. https://dc.uwm.edu/etd/761

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by UWM Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UWM Digital Commons. For more information, please contact open-access@uwm.edu.

IMPACT OF *FAAH* GENOTYPE AND MARIJUANA USE ON BRAIN STRUCTURE AND NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL PERFORMANCE IN EMERGING ADULTS

by

Skyler G. Shollenbarger

A Thesis Submitted in

Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

in Psychology

at

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

May 2014

ABSTRACT IMPACT OF *FAAH* GENOTYPE AND MARIJUANA USE ON BRAIN STRUCTURE AND NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL PERFORMANCE IN EMERGING ADULTS by Skyler G. Shollenbarger

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 2014 Under the Supervision of Professor Krista Lisdahl, Ph.D.

Introduction: Chronic MJ use may be associated with higher cognitive ability impairments (see Lisdahl et al., 2013). Regions undergoing later maturation (Gogtay 2004), may be at increased risk for MJ-induced alterations. Endogenous cannabinoid signaling (ECS) is modulated by the function the enzyme Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase (see Ho & Hilard, 2005), thus the gene encoding for this enzyme (FAAH) impacts ECS (Sipe et al., 2002). Here, we examine the impact of MJ use and FAAH genotype on PFC complexity and underlying frontal white matter (WM) integrity in young adults. Methods: Participants included 37 MJ users and 37 non-using young adults (ages 18-25). Of those, 27 were FAAH A carriers and 47 were homozygous (C/C) carriers. Exclusion criteria included co-morbid psychiatric and neurologic disorders and excessive other drug use. Brain complexity and WM integrity was measured using local gyrification index and Tracula programs. The Letter Number Sequencing, PASAT and D-Kefs c/w interference measured complex attention and inhibition. Multiple regressions and Pearson r correlations were used to predict LGI, WM integrity and cognitive performance indices from MJ use status, FAAH status, and MJ*FAAH interactions controlling for demographic variables and comorbid drug use. *Results*: MJ users demonstrated decreased LGI in bilateral vmPFC (RH: [beta=-.54, p<.001] and LH: [beta=-.55, p < .001]); bilateral mPFC (RH: [beta=-.48, p=.001] and LH: [beta=-.51, p < .001]); and bilateral frontal poles (RH: [beta=-.31, p=.02]; LH: [beta=-.43, p=.004]), with increased

LGI in LH DLPFC [beta=.40, p=.004]. Controlling for the same variables, reduced WM integrity was found in bilateral UCF (RH: [beta=.32, p=.03] and LH: [beta=.31, p=.03]) and fMinor [*beta*=.27, p=.05] tracts of MJ users. Significant interactions between MJ*FAAH were seen predicting LGI in LH OFC [beta=-.24, p=.04] and WM integrity in fMinor [beta=.26, p=.04] and LH ATR [beta=.36, p=.003]. In MJ users, increased gyrification was associated with better LNS performance in RH mPFC [r=.51, p=.001], RH vmPFC [r=.41, p=.01], and RH frontal pole [r=.45, p=.005] and a negative correlation with gyrification and color-word completion time in LH vmPFC [r=-.32, p=.05]. In MJ users, decreased WM integrity was associated with greater PASAT performance in the RH UNC [r=.38, p=.02]. **Discussion**: MJ use was associated with reduced LGI in several PFC regions with one region showing an opposite relationship. These results are consistent with Mata and colleagues (2010). We also found reduced WM integrity in fronto-temporal tracts, which may have important emotion regulation implications. These brain characteristics were also moderated by FAAH genotype. Additional implications of ECS and brain health will be discussed.

© Copyright by Skyler G. Shollenbarger, 2014 All Rights Reserved

Dedication

Life is a team effort and it is with great pride and gratitude that I share this experience with many wonderful people that seek to enhance the potential of others around them.

I dedicate this thesis to my multi-talented fiancé, Dr. Dyani Saxby who has provided profound perspective for appreciating the process of graduate school and forever changed my perspective on beauty. I also dedicate this project to my beautiful mother, Pamela Baden, whose hard work and unconditional love has shown me life's most valuable pleasures. I dedicate the work to my dancing granny, Christine Batdorf who has taught us all how to appreciate the humor in life. For this, I may remain present focused on many journeys to come.

I dedicate this thesis to my award-winning mentor, Dr. Krista Lisdahl who has provided the opportunity of a lifetime and who remains strikingly humble. Her dedication to improving the health of subsequent generations will remain timeless. I dedicate this project to my committee members, Dr. Christine Larson and Dr. Cecilia Hillard, who provided their time to help shape my research growth. I also dedicate this project to Dr. Jenessa Price who provided invaluable efforts for developing my scientific writing skills.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures	VII
List of Tables	viii
Introduction	1
Significance	1
Neurochemistry	2
FAAH Genotyping & Endocannabinoid Signaling	3
Adolescence A Neurodevelopmental Sensitive Period?	4
Marijuana Cognitive Impact in Adolescents and Emerging Adults	5
Marijuana Structural Consequences in Adolescence	7
Prefrontal Cortex –Structural Findings	7
Prefrontal Cortex – White Matter Findings	8
Cortical Geometry	9
FAAH and MJ Use	10
Aims & Hypotheses	11
Methods & Materials	13
Participants	13
Procedures	14
Screening Inventories & Questionnaires	15
Neuropsychological Assessment	17
Genotyping	18
MRI Data Acquisition	18
MRI Processing	19
Data Analysis	20
Results	21
Demographic & Mood Information	21
Allele Frequencies	22
Drug Use Information	22
Multivariate Relationships	23
Discussion	27
References	46

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Study Design (Aims 1 & 2) –Impact of MJ, $FAAH$ genotype, and MJ x $FAAH$ on gyrification and WM integrity.	35
Figure 2.	Study Design (Aim 3) –Correlation of significantly divergent regions between MJ users and controls and executive functioning performance.	36
Figure 3.	Gyrification Analysis Pipeline.	37
Figure 4.	Mean Gyrification for OFC (LH) varies by <i>FAAH</i> genotype in MJ users.	38
Figure 5.	Mean FA for fMinor varies by group and FAAH genotype.	39
Figure 6.	Mean FA for ATR (LH) varies by FAAH genotype in MJ users.	40
Figure 7.	Theoretical Influence of ECS on Brain Complexity.	41

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Demographic and Substance Use Information According to Group and Genotype.	42
Table 2.	Descriptive Statistics of Local Gyrification Indices According to Group.	43
Table 3.	Descriptive Statistics of Diffusion Tensor Imaging Values According by Group.	44
Table 4.	Descriptive Statistics of Neuropsycholgical Performance by Group and Genotype.	45

I. INTRODUCTION

SIGNIFICANCE

Marijuana (MJ) use continues to be on the rise among youth populations, with up to 25% of adolescents reporting annual use, a nearly 4% significant increase from 2007 (Johnston, O'Malley, Bachman, 2011a). Additionally, over one third of college students reported past year use (Johnston, O'Malley, Bachman & Schulenberg, 2011b) and in young adults aged 21-22 almost 20% reported past month use with roughly 6% reporting daily use in 2012 (Johnston, O'Malley, Bachman, Schulenberg, 2013). Among chronic MJ-using youth, evidence suggests impairments in higher order cognition, such as complex attention and working memory (Harvey, Sellman, Porter, & Frampton, 2007; Hanson et al., 2010; Medina et al., 2007; Lisdahl & Price, 2012).

The central active ingredient in MJ, Δ ⁹- tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), binds to cannabinoid receptors (CB₁) in the brain. In-vivo human research indicates the presence of CB₁ receptors in several cortical regions, including the hippocampus and cerebellum, with increased densities in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Terry et al., 2009), a region associated with attention and executive functions (see Goldberg, 2009; see Yurgelun-Todd, 2007). The CB₁ receptor is part of a neurotransmitter system that responds to cannabinoids and this signaling, known as endocannabinoid signaling (ECS), is what causes the subjective experience of MJ use through retrograde regulation of monoamines, including dopamine (DA) (see Katona & Freund, 2012). Given that such processes may have an influence on addiction risk (Koob & Volkow, 2010) and executive functioning (EF) performance (for review see Egerton, Allison & Brett, 2006), it is plausible that variability in MJ-related neurocognitive consequences may be mediated by genes that regulate ECS. One such candidate is fatty acid amide hydrolase (*FAAH*). To date, no studies have examined the impact of *FAAH* genotype on structural brain changes associated with adolescent and emerging adult MJ exposure. Consequently, there is great incentive to further understand the effects MJ has on the emerging adult brain.

NEUROCHEMISTRY

Endogenous cannabinoids are produced naturally in the brain and exogenous MJ administration mimics the typical chemical function. In reaction to calcium build-up in the post synaptic cell, endogenous cannabinoids (e.g. N-arachidonylethanolamide or AEA) indirectly affect glutamate (GLU) and γ -Aminobutyric acid (GABA) release by binding to G-protein coupled CB₁ receptors in pre-synaptic neurons (Gomez-Ruiz, Hernandez & Ramos, 2007; Howlett et al., 2004; Iversen, 2003; Kogan & Mechoulam, 2006). FAAH inactivates and degrades AEA into two elements arachidonic acid and ethanolamine, which prevents AEA from activating the CB₁ receptor (McKinney & Cravatt, 2005; Ho & Hillard, 2005). During MJ use, THC also binds to CB₁ receptors and similarly affects GLU and GABA release (Iverson, 2003). This has both excitatory (decrease in GABA) and inhibitory (decrease in GLU) effects on the post-synaptic neurons, including other monoamines (Szabo & Schlicker, 2005), which may induce behavioral consequences. Throughout adolescence, neurochemical changes in AEA regulation occur through increasing reliance on the action of FAAH in regions within the PFC (Long, Lind, Webster & Weickert, 2012). Additionally, chronic MJ using adults (ages 20-36) demonstrate significant, though reversible downregulation of CB₁ receptors in the PFC (Hirvonen et al., 2012). Thus, a continuum of FAAH activity may have

unique structural implications for adolescent and emerging adult MJ users, particularly in areas such as the PFC.

FAAH GENOTYPE AND ENDOCANNABINOID SIGNALING

Several genes contributing to individual variation in neurochemical responses may mediate ECS (Onaivi et al., 2002); recent data also suggest environmental influences on ECS response, specifically via unique fluctuations of endocannabinoids (Hill et al., 2010). Though CB₁ activation via AEA may be inhibited through AEA transport or FAAH activity, the latter was found to be the preferential constituent in the rat brain (Solinas et al., 2007). As previously mentioned, a potential biomarker of ECS is the gene encoding for the enzyme FAAH (FAAH; note: gene encoding for the FAAH enzyme is also called FAAH – all references to the gene will be FAAH) located on chromosome 1p35-34 in humans. Specifically, a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) from C to A at position 385 (rs324420) in the human FAAH gene results in a conversion of amino acid proline to threonine (P129T), which renders the enzyme instable as evidenced in immune cell examination (Sipe et al., 2002; Chiang, Gerber, Sipe, & Cravatt, 2004). Consequently, the three most common genotypes are as follows: C/C (63.19%), C/A (30.56%), A/A (6.25%), and those carrying the rare nucleotide 'A' demonstrate elevated levels of AEA in blood plasma levels (Sipe et al., 2010).

ECS has an important role in fetal and postnatal development, and FAAH activity is an important mediator in ECS regulation (Glaser et al., 2003; McFarland, Rakhshan, Wilson & Barker, 2004; Fernández-Ruiz, Berrendero, Hernández, Romero & Ramos 1999; Fride, 2008; Harkany, Keimpema, Barabás & Mulder, 2008). Maturational disruption, as evidenced in animal models (Bernard et al., 2005), may negatively impact network activity.

ADOLESCENCE A SENSITIVE NEURODEVELOPMENTAL PERIOD?

In addition to ongoing development of the endocannabinoid system, there are also substantial neurodevelopmental changes present during adolescence through emerging adulthood, especially in the PFC (see Gogtay & Thompson, 2010; Gogtay et al., 2004). Underlying microstructural analysis demonstrate gray matter pruning in the PFC coincides with white matter (WM) tract development into early adulthood (Bava et al., 2010), producing increased axonal insulation. Dynamic changes in reward centers predate maturation in the PFC (Casey, Jones & Hare, 2008; Ernst, Pine & Harden, 2006; Galvan et al., 2006), suggesting fewer resources available for top-down executive control and heightened impulsivity behaviors (Kelley et al., 2004), including initiation of MJ and other drug use during adolescence (Bava & Tapert, 2010). Animal and human studies investigating the impact of adolescent MJ use suggests marked changes in cognition, structure and neural recruitment (Jager & Ramsey, 2008), as well as neuropsychological decline (Meier et al., 2012). Adolescents also demonstrate pronounced vulnerability to MJ exposure (see Trezza, Cuomo & Vanderschuren, 2008), thus determining the influence of MJ use on regions undergoing neural maturation is necessary.

In addition to gray matter pruning, underlying maturation also occurs in WM with changes in both volumetric and cohesiveness of axons (Giedd, 2004; Lenroot & Giedd, 2006; Schmithorst, Wilke, Dardzinski & Holland, 2002; Barnea-Goraly et al., 2005). Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) provides in-vivo analysis of WM integrity through examining diffusion of water molecules. Quantification can be made on the direction, which can be isotropic or anisotropic (fractional anisotropy; FA), and magnitude of diffusion (mean diffusivity; MD), and can be influenced by the geometric dimensions of the tissue (Beaulieu, 2002; Mamata et al., 2002; Pierpaoli, Jezzard, Basser, Barnett & Di Chiro, 1996). FA values range from 0-1, with greater values representing highly organized and cohesive tissue. Typically developing WM tracts demonstrate an inverse relationship between FA and MD. For example, during late adolescence and early adulthood WM cohesion increases, which causes increases in FA and decreases in MD within the PFC (Qiu, Li, Liu, Xie, & Wang, 2010) to support cognitive performance and guide increasingly complex behavior as we age (see Giedd, 2008; Bava et al., 2010). Increases in both FA and WM volume have been observed in healthy adolescent and emerging adults samples, particularly in PFC regions, which were associated with enhanced cognitive and intellectual abilities (Barnea-Goraly et al., 2005; Bava et al., 2010; Tamnes et al., 2011).

Functional neuroimaging studies found increased brain activation abnormalities in early-onset versus late-onset marijuana users (Becker, Wagner, Gouzoulis-Mayfrank, Spuentrup & Daumann, 2010; Gruber, Dahlgren, Sagar, Gönenc & Killgore 2012; Jager, Block, Lulten & Rarnsey, 2010). With critical changes in brain maturation occurring, human research must address MJ-induced cognitive and structural changes, particularly in later developing regions such as the PFC (Barnea-Goraly et al., 2005; Bava et al., 2010; Gogtay et al., 2004).

MARIJUANA COGNITIVE IMPACT IN ADOLECENTS AND EMERGING ADULTS

When examining neurocognition as it relates to MJ exposure, length of abstinence may impact behavior, especially for the chronic users, given traceable metabolites can be detected 27 days following past use (Ellies, Mann, Judson, Schramm & Tashchian, 1985). Though there is no evidence that metabolites can impact behavior, this aligns with subjective withdrawal symptoms persisting up to 28 days following abstinence (Kouri & Pope, 2000).

Studies requiring between 7 and 28 days of abstinence have found significantly slower processing speed, poorer complex attention, and cognitive inhibition (Lisdahl & Price, 2012); verbal memory, planning and sequencing ability (Medina et al., 2007); memory (Bartholomew, Holroyd & Heffernan, 2010); attention/executive performance (Tapert, Baratta, Abrantes & Brown, 2002); perseverative errors in problem-solving (Lane et al., 2007), and altered decision-making (Whitlow et al., 2004). In a non-abstinent group of poly-substance using teens, neuropsychological performance was not associated with MJ use, though the group was also diagnosed with conduct disorder (Teichner, Donohue, Crum, Azrin & Golden, 2000). Despite the impairments listed above, functional neuroimaging studies suggest adolescent MJ use may cause heightened activation of PFC regions while completing spatial working memory (Schweinsburg et al., 2007), tasks.

In general, chronic MJ use appears to negatively impact behavioral (Fergusson et al., 2003; Iversen, 2005) and cognitive functioning (see Schweinsburg, Brown & Tapert, 2008, see Lisdahl et al., 2012); though, neuropsychological impairments may be dependent upon initiation age of first usage (Ehrenreich et al., 1999; Huestegge et al., 2002; Pope et al., 2003; Fontes et al., 2011; Solowij et al., 2012; Meier et al., 2012), and gender (Pope, Jacobs, Mialet, Yurgelun-Todd & Gruber, 1997; Lisdahl & Price, 2012).

Indeed, preliminary evidence suggests some deficits may be reversible following a discontinuation of use (Fried, Watkinson & Gray, 2005; Hanson et al., 2010; Tait, Mackinnon & Christensen, 2011).

MARIJUANA STRUCTURAL CONSEQUENCES IN ADOLESCENCE

As the neocortex continues to mature throughout adolescence and emerging adulthood (Gogtay & Thompson, 2010; Gogtay et al., 2004), research highlighting the effects of MJ use on neural architecture has indicated abnormalities in regional gray matter volumes subserving memory and executive functioning, such as bilateral hippocampus, right amygdala, cerebellum and PFC regions (Cousijn et al., 2012; McQueeny et al., 2011; Medina, Nagel & Tapert, 2010; Medina et al., 2009). In light of the scope of this paper, structural consequences will focus on PFC and underlying PFC WM disparities between controls and MJ using emerging adults.

PREFRONTAL CORTEX – STRUCTURAL FINDINGS

Animal models offer evidence for heightened PFC vulnerability to MJ exposure in adolescents (Ellgren et al., 2008). In humans, structural imaging studies also suggest that MJ use may impact typical neurodevelopment, particularly in later developing regions. For example, MJ users did not differ from controls in total PFC volume, although a marginal gender by group interaction was observed. Female MJ users demonstrated larger posterior PFC volumes, including the orbitofrontal cortex, than same-gendered controls and smaller PFC volume was associated with better performance (Medina et al., 2009). In a group of heavy MJ-using adolescents reduced cortical thickness was found within frontal regions (Lopez-Larson et al., 2011), with age of onset negatively correlated with the right superior frontal gyrus. Additionally, another study found reduced medial orbital frontal volume (mOFC) (Churchwell, Lopez-Larson, Yurgelun-Todd, 2010) in adolescent MJ-users. Our lab has also confirmed reductions in the mOFC as well as inferior parietal lobe in young adult MJ-users (Price et al., under review). Extensive exclusion criteria were implemented for these studies, suggesting that chronic MJ use in otherwise healthy youth can impact the structure and maturation processes of gray matter. Additional PFC characteristics aside from volume or cortical thickness, such as gyrification indices, may serve to elucidate the impact of MJ use on cortical changes. PREFRONTAL CORTEX- WHITE MATTER FINDINGS

Containing both myelin and oligodendrocytes, WM is responsible for efficient communication between different cortical regions and demonstrates a functional role in orchestrating brain networks (see Fields, 2008; see Fields & Stevens-Graham, 2002). Of note, CB₁-rs are typically located on axons (see Mackie, 2005) although oligodendrocytes have also been found to contain CB₁ receptors in the rat brain (Molina-Holgado et al., 2002; Moldrich & Wenger, 2000), suggesting that cannabinoids may impact myelination. Further, adult animal studies examining repeated exposure to cannabinoid agonists found enhanced remyelination regulated through CB₁ activation and agonist treatment may reduce oligodendrocyte progenitor apoptosis (i.e. programmed cellular death; Sun et al., 2013; Molina-Holgado et al., 2002). Nonetheless, CB₁ agonist exposure during adolescence may not parallel adult findings.

Given continued PFC development (see Toga, Thompson & Sowell, 2006), with increased CB₁ receptor density localized within the PFC (Terry et al., 2009), MJ-induced changes in WM may be heightened during this sensitive period. With once exception (DeLisi et al., 2006, see below), converging lines of evidence suggest that chronic MJ use during adolescence results in reduced WM integrity in the corpus collosum (CC) (Arnone et al., 2008; Abou-Saleh, 2010; Zalesky et al., 2012), front-temporal tracts (Ashtari, Cervellione, Cottone, Ardekani & Kumra, 2009), and other PFC regions (Bava et al., 2009; Yücel et al., 2010; Clark, Chung, Thatcher, Pajtek & Long, 2012). These WM differences have been linked with negative cognitive performance or behavioral outcomes in adolescent users (Bava, Jacobus, Mahmood, Yang & Tapert, 2010; Medina, Nagel, Park, McQueeny & Tapert, 2007). While current less infrequent use (i.e. not current regular users but used either 2-3 times to daily > 1 year during adolescence) in young adults aged 17-30 has been associated with increased FA/integrity compared to non-users (DeLisi et al., 2006), there are concerns regarding methodological limitations (e.g. comorbid drug/alcohol use, neurological insult history, handedness etc.), thus confounding variables may have driven the results. In summary, there is evidence of dynamic alterations in PFC microstructure are being reflected in MJ using adolescents and emerging adults, suggestive of heightened infrastructural vulnerabilities in early commencing users. Taking into consideration the later myelination of the PFC (Bava et al., 2010) and discovery of CB_1 receptors on myelinating glial cells (Molina-Holgado et al., 2002; Moldrich & Wenger, 2000), WM may prove to be more interactive with ones' environment and reflect dynamic structural changes concomitant with our behavior (Ullén, 2009).

CORTICAL GEOMETRY

Cortical folding (gyrification) patterns may be quantified and serve as another method to examine surface-based dimensions that reflect underlying organization (Schaer et al., 2008; 2012). Whether gyrification results from tensions propagated by amount of connectivity and tension of WM (Van Essen, 1997) or differential cortical expansion (Richman et al., 1975; Ronan et al., 2013), cortical surface complexity increases between ages 6-16 in typically developing youth, most especially within the PFC (Blanton et al., 2001). Evidence suggests increased gyrification may be associated with enhanced vocabulary in typically developing youth (Wallace et al., 2013). To our knowledge, no studies to date have examined local gyrfication in adolescent MJ users.

Mata and colleagues (2010) examined cortical curvature, a similar measure to gyrification, in young adults (mean age of 25.7). MJ users demonstrated significant decreases in sulcal concavity compared to controls in regions of the frontal lobe, with significant reductions found in sulci thickness of the right frontal lobe in users (Mata et al., 2010). Given that global cortical comparisons were not found to be distinct between groups, the authors suggested sulcal curvature may be dependent upon WM tensions (Mata et al., 2010; Van Essen, 1997). As such, there is a need to examine PFC WM integrity among MJ-using adolescents and emerging adults.

FAAH & MJ USE

Initial evidence suggests *FAAH* genotype may indeed moderate the effects of MJ use in youth. In young adult daily MJ users (ages 18-25), those with C/C genotype reported significantly increased craving (Haughey, Marshall, Schacht, Louis & Hutchison, 2008), and increased withdrawal symptoms and happiness following use (Schatch, Selling & Hutchinson, 2009). Adults with *FAAH* A/A genotype have demonstrated significantly reduced risk for developing MJ dependence compared to C/C or C/A carriers (Tyndale, Payne, Gerber & Sipe, 2007) and failed to demonstrate an

association with methamphetamine dependence (Morita et al., 2005), alcoholism (Iwasaki et al., 2007), or heroin (Proudnikov et al., 2010).

Neuroimaging research has focused on adults and is mixed with regard to genotype and limbic reactivity. *FAAH* C/C genotype has been linked to increased reward sensitivity (Filbey et al., 2010), while other studies have found non-substance using adult A carriers to have heightened startle activation (Conzelmann et al., 2012) and increases in reward activation coupled with decreased threat-related reactivity (Hariri et al., 2009) Of note, Hariri and colleagues (2009) did not exclude for current substance use, which may impact functional activation patterns (Gruber & Yurgelun-Todd, 2005; Yurgelun-Todd et al. 1998) and Conzelmann and colleagues (2012) did not confirm abstinence with objective measures and relied on self-report. Thus far, preliminary research suggests a functional relationship with *FAAH* polymorphism and behavioral phenotypes, which necessitates the need to examine PFC structural differences between genotypes.

AIMS & HYPOTHESES

The current study examined whether the *FAAH* gene or MJ use independently or interactively predict PFC cortical gyrification (Schaer et al., 2012) and underlying WM integrity (via FreeSurfer; Desikan et al., 2006; Yendiki et al., 2011) (see Figure 1). Further, the study will examine whether relationships exist between executive functioning (EF) and gray matter gyrification or WM regions that significantly differ between MJ users and controls (see Figure 2) in 18 to 25-year old healthy young adults without comorbid psychiatric or neurologic disorders. Insert Figures 1 & 2 Here

Primary Aim 1: To examine the independent and interactive effects of MJ group status and *FAAH* genotype on dimensions of PFC gyrification.

<u>Hypothesis 1.</u> MJ users (based on previous findings; Mata et al., 2010) will have reduced gyrification compared to controls. Due to potential risk in MJ-using youth (Haughey et al., 2008; Schatch et al., 2009), individuals homozygous for C/C *FAAH* allele will have significantly less gyrification compared to A carriers. Further, MJ users that are C/C carriers of *FAAH* will demonstrate the least curvature in the PFC compared to MJ-using A allele carriers.

Primary Aim 2: To examine the independent and interactive effects of MJ group status and *FAAH* genotype on WM integrity in the PFC.

<u>Hypothesis 2.</u> MJ users will have significantly poorer WM integrity (increased MD or decreased FA values) in the PFC compared to controls. Individuals with the C/C *FAAH* allele will have significantly poorer WM integrity in the PFC compared to A allele carriers. MJ users with the C/C *FAAH* allele will have significantly poorer WM integrity compared to the other genotype subgroups.

Primary Aim 3: Examine ROI's that significantly differ between MJ users and controls to determine the association between PFC gyrification and WM integrity and EF performance.

<u>Hypothesis 3.</u> Regions that significantly differ will be positively associated with performance and gyrification, such that better performance will be associated with

increased gyrification. In WM, a negative association with MD and performance will be observed, whereas a positive association with FA values and performance will be observed.

II. METHODS AND MATERIALS

PARTICIPANTS

Participants included 74 healthy emerging adults between the ages of 18-25 (41 male, 33 female; 28 homozygous CC & 13 A carrying males, 19 homozygous CC & 14 A carrying females) from a larger parent study examining genetic moderations of drugs in youth (PI: Lisdahl, NIH R03 DA027457). All participants were required to be fluent in English and right-handed. Exclusion criteria included MRI contraindications (pregnancy, claustrophobia, weight over 250 lbs., ferromagnetic implants of any kind, pacemakers or other devices in body); history of chronic medical or neurologic illness or injury (meningitis, HIV, epilepsy, brain tumor, traumatic brain injury, injury resulting in >2minutes of unconsciousness and concussion symptoms, stroke, cerebral palsy, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, high blood pressure, diabetes, consistent migraines); history of a learning disability; substantial complications during birth or premature birth; known prenatal exposure to alcohol (>4 drinks/day or >7 drinks/week) or illicit drugs (>10); current use of psychoactive medication; preexisting DSM-IV Axis I disorders independent of substance use (including major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, conduct disorder, social phobia, agoraphobia, panic disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, obsessive compulsive disorder, anorexia, and bulimia); and refusal to remain abstinent from all drugs and alcohol for at least seven days.

Eligible participants were chosen if they fit into of two groups: MJ users (> 10 uses in past year and > 50 lifetime uses) or non-using controls (<1 past year and < 5 lifetime uses) and had usable MRI data. In order to minimize the impacts of comorbid alcohol use across both groups, heavy binge drinkers were excluded; this was assessed using past year Cahalan criteria and "very heavy" drinkers were excluded. Participants were also matched as closely as possible on age, education, ethnicity, gender, and verbal IQ. For the current analysis, 37 controls and 37 MJ users met proposed inclusion and exclusion criteria.

PROCEDURES

The Institutional Review Board at the University of Cincinnati approved all aspects of this study and the same institution has approved ongoing analysis. Participants were recruited through advertisements in a local free newspaper and fliers distributed throughout the community and local universities. Interested participants were then screened by phone. After individuals provided oral informed consent, trained research assistants screened prospective participants over the phone for inclusion/exclusion criteria (mentioned above), including questions regarding past year drug use in order to assess matching into a particular drug use group. In addition, screeners utilized a semistructured interview based on DSM-IV-TR criteria for Axis I psychotic, anxiety, and mood disorders. Those who had positive responses to the screening questions were discussed in committee; if clear decisions could not be reached then they were recontacted and administered additional diagnostic questions based on the SCID I/P (determined by Dr. Lisdahl; First, Spitzer, Gibbon, & Williams, 2001). Following the phone screen, eligible participants completed either one or two sessions. Those with considerable drug or alcohol use completed a first session three to four days prior to the second session, during which they were informed of the purpose of the study, procedures, potential risks and benefits, and confidentiality before providing written informed consent. They then provided a urine sample for a drug toxicology screen and completed questionnaires for background and demographic information and traitspecific psychological measures. During the second session (lasting approximately 5 to 6 hours), abstinence was once again verified through a urine drug screen and breathalyzer test, psychological measures were completed, a drug use interview and neuropsychological battery were administered, and participants underwent a highresolution MRI scan. Control participants who endorsed less frequent drug use completed all tasks during one session (approximately 4-5 hours). Participants were paid \$160 for two sessions or \$110 for one session, reimbursed for parking, and received local drug and alcohol treatment resources and images of their brain.

SCREENING INVENTORIES AND QUESTIONNAIRES

Biological Samples. Participants were administered a urine toxicology screen using the One Step Drug Screen Test, a breathalyzer test, and a pregnancy test. Those who tested positive for drugs and/or alcohol except MJ and nicotine were excluded, and pregnant women were excluded as effects of MRI scans on fetuses are unknown. Additionally, urine samples were sent for further analysis to provide THC-COOH (THC metabolite) levels to assess abstinence-related decreases from session one.

Demographic Information. Participants completed a Background Questionnaire outlining demographic variables including age; gender; ethnicity (coded for Caucasian

vs. minority status); self and parents' educations, incomes, and employments; marital status; number of biological and/or step/half siblings; history of medical or neurologic illness, psychological disorders or use of psychiatric medication, and learning disability; involvement in extracurricular activities or hobbies, gambling frequency, and smoker status. Height and weight were also collected to calculate body mass index [BMI; (weight in kilograms/(height in meters)²].

Drug Use. Drug use frequency was recorded to exclude for very heavy users as well as to control for possible variance in cognition based on amount used. A modified version of the Time-Line Follow-Back (Sobell, Maisto, Sobell, & Cooper, 1979) interview was conducted, using memory cues such as holidays and personal events recorded on a calendar to measure past year drug use. Drug categories assessed were as follows: nicotine cigarettes, chewing tobacco/snuff/pipe, cigars/hookah, alcohol, MJ, and 'other' drug use, which was a total including all of the following categories: ecstasy, sedatives (barbiturates, valium, Xanax, Ativan, ketamine, GHB), stimulants (cocaine, crack cocaine, amphetamine, and methamphetamine), hallucinogens (PCP, LSD, DMT, peoyote, acid, mushrooms), opioids (heroin, opium, pain pills), inhalants (paint, glue, household cleaners, nitrous oxide, gas), and other (anything else not mentioned). The participants' drug use was measured by the number of standard units (cigarettes, hits, cigars for nicotine; standard drinks for alcohol; joints for MJ; tablets for ecstasy; grams for stimulants; number of hits or pills for inhalants, hallucinogens, and opioids; and pills or hits for sedatives). Participants were administered the Customary Drinking and Drug Use Record (CDDR), measuring lifetime and past 3-month substance use, withdrawal

symptoms, DSM-IV abuse and dependence criteria, and substance-related difficulties (Brown et al., 1998; Stewart & Brown, 1995).

Psychological Tests. Participants were administered the Beck Depression Inventory-II (Beck, Steer, & Brown, 1996), which assess current depressive symptomology.

NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL ASSESSMENTS

Premorbid Intelligence. The Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI) Vocabulary subtest (Wechsler, 1999) and the Wide Range Achievement Test-4th edition (WRAT-4) Reading subtest (Wilkinson, 2006) measured estimates of verbal intelligence and quality of education for group comparison purposes (see Manly, Jacobs, & Touradji, 2002).

Complex Attention. Complex attention was assessed using the total correct responses in the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale – Third Edition (WAIS-III) Letter Number Sequencing (LNS) and the Paced Auditory Serial Attention Test (PASAT). The LNS is a subscale of the WAIS-III Working Memory Index, which measures a person's ability to retain numbers and letters (ranging from two to eight bits of information over 7 separate trials) and perform a manipulation to organize the information according to a rule in order to provide a response (Wechsler, 1997). The PASAT is a working memory task in which requires participants to retain two consecutive numbers that are presented in a serial manner and perform a summation roughly every 2 seconds for a total of 60 numbers (Gronwall, 1977). Total scores on the LNS and PASAT were used for the current study.

Cognitive Inhibition. The D-KEFS Color Word Interference Test Inhibition total completion time assessed inhibitory ability (Delis & Kaplan, 2000). For this task, participants were presented with stimuli cards containing words (red, blue or green), colors (blocks made of red, blue, or green), and words printed in a different color (e.g. the word "blue" printed in green ink). During each of the three stimuli presentations, participants were asked to first read the words on the word card, name the colors on the color card and name the color on the mixed word/color ink card.

GENOTYPING

FAAH. The *FAAH* variant were genotyped using the TaqMan (fluorogenic 5' nuclease) assay (for example see Egan et al., 2003). The primers and the probes were obtained from Applied Biosystems. PCR was conducted with both primers and probes added in an ABI 9700 thermocycler and the endpoint results were scored using the ABI 7900HT Sequence Detection System.

MRI DATA ACQUISITION

Parameters. High-resolution anatomical images were optimized on a 4T Varian Unity INOVA MRI scanner at the Center for Imaging Research (CIR). T1-weighted, 3-D SPGR anatomical brain scan was obtained (about 30 minutes of scan time) using a modified driven equilibrium Fourier transform (MDEFT) sequence (FOV=25.6 cm, 256x256x192 matrix, slice thickness=1 mm, in- plane resolution=1x1 mm, TR=13 ms, TE=5.3 ms, flip angle=22°). Diffusion Tensor Imaging (DTI) was obtained using 12 diffusion directions with b \approx 600s/mm² (FOV= 25.6 cm, 64x64x30 matrix, resolution=4x4x4 mm³, TR = 8,000 ms, TE = 88.8 ms, flip angle 90°. Geometric and ghost distortion corrections were implemented using multi-echo reference scans. A neuroradiologist at CIR reviewed anatomical scans and reported neurologic abnormalities. No participants with abnormalities were included in this sample. MRI PROCESSING

PFC Local Gyrification Analysis. Images were preprocessed using FreeSurfer's 3D reconstruction pipeline (http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu; Dale, Fischl, & Sereno, 1999). First, segmentation discerned type of tissue, resulting in segmented WM volume indicating location of gray-white boundary. After automatic correction for topology errors, a second surface was created reflecting the pial-gray boundary. Next, pial smoothing was applied via: [(1/r)h.pial-outer-smoothed]; which was followed by specifying regions of interest on the smoothed inflated surface and corresponding pial surface. PFC local gyrification indices (LGI) were also created using FreeSurfer software version 5.3 with a radius set to 20mm (Schaer et al., 2008; 2012), which quantified a ratio of the smoothed surface to the pial surface for each vertex and selected ROI (see Figure 3). ROI's were determined using an individual cortical surface-based anatomical atlas (Destrieux, Fischl, Dale, & Halgren, 2010). Similar to cortical thickness, each subject's LGI was entered for the following ROIs: [including the PFC; dorsal lateral PFC] (DLPFC); medial PFC (mPFC); orbital frontal PFC (OFC), which was further broken down into: ventral medial PFC (vmPFC) and ventral lateral PFC (vlPFC); and frontal pole for both right (RH) and left (LH) hemispheres].

PFC Underlying WM Integrity. WM pathways were reconstructed via diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) using voxel based 3x3 symmetric tensor matrices differentiating both direction and magnitude, assuming direction was uniformly linear within each voxel. Fractional anistoropy (FA) was obtained through eigenvalue variance for a given

voxel, which determines isotropic versus anisotropic movement represented by a scalar value between 0 and 1. ROI-based comparison was computed through FreeSurfer version 5.3 tractography software TRACULA (Yendiki et al., 2011), which reconstructed WM pathways (trac-all -path). For ROI-based analysis, participant's DTI was registered to their individual T1 weighted image obtained through FreeSurfer cortical parcellation and subcortical segmentation (recon-all –path).

DATA ANALYSIS

Preliminary Analysis. All analyses were conducted using SPSS version 22.0.0. ANOVAs and Chi-square tests were run to examine potential demographic differences as well as differences in past year drug use histories between MJ users and controls by genotype. Variables that either differed between groups or may impact neural architecture were entered as covariates, such as mood symptoms (Medina et al., 2007), alcohol use (Medina et al., 2008) or nicotine use (Paul et al., 2008). Covariates included WRAT-4 Reading scaled score, age, gender, ethnicity (coded for Caucasian vs. minority status), past year alcohol use, recent nicotine use (cotinine levels), depressive symptoms, and *FAAH* genotype (when examining MJ group status).

Primary Analysis. **AIM 1.** General linear modeling (GLM) in SPSS was used to examine whether MJ group status, *FAAH* genotype, or an interaction between MJ group status**FAAH* genotype were significantly associated with each PFC gyrification indices for each ROI [PFC, DLPFC, mPFC, OFC (which was further broken down into: vmPFC and vlPFC), and frontal pole for both RH and LH. Standard least squares multiple regression was used; block one included covariates (see preliminary analysis), block two included MJ group status, and block three included the interaction between MJ group

status and *FAAH* genotype. If the interaction (MJ**FAAH* genotype) was not significant, only block two was interpreted. Significance was determined if p<.05.

Primary Analysis. AIM 2. Average FA and MD were extracted from the underlying WM tracts [corpus callosum forceps minor (fMinor), anterior thalamic radiation (ATR), and uncinate fasciculus (UNC)] in the PFC utilizing FreeSurfer 's TRACULA (Yendiki et al., 2011). Standard least squares multiple regression was used; block one included covariates (see preliminary analysis), block two included MJ group status, and block three included the interaction between MJ group status and *FAAH* genotype. If the interaction (MJ**FAAH* genotype) was not significant, only block two was interpreted. Significance was determined if p<.05.

Primary Analysis. AIM 3: Pearson correlations were run between cognitive performance (complex attention and cognitive inhibition; see Price et al., under review) in MJ users and both gyrification and WM variables that significantly differed between MJ users and controls. Significance was determined if p<.05.

III. RESULTS

DEMOGRAPHIC & MOOD INFORMATION

ANOVAs and chi-squares tested whether MJ users and non-using controls differed in demographic variables (see Table 1). Significant differences were found between MJ users and controls in BDI-II depressive symptoms with MJ users reporting more than controls [F(1,72)=4.10, p=.05]. MJ users and controls did not differ in ethnicity [64.9% Caucasian for MJ users and controls, $x^2(4)3.43$, p=.49], gender [$x^2(1)2.68$, p=.10], past year Cahalan criteria [$x^2(5)4.62$, p=.46], age [F(1,72)=.41,

p=.52], WRAT-4 Reading standard score [F(1,72)=.36, *p*=.55], education [F(1,72)=1.43, *p*=.24], annual income [F(1,72)=.09, *p*=.76], or body mass index [F(1,71)=.08, *p*=.77].

ANOVAs and chi-squares tested whether *FAAH* genotype differences between C/C carriers and A carriers (see Table 1). Significant differences were found between C/C and A carriers in ethnicity (76.6% of C/C carriers were Caucasian and 44.4% of A carriers were Caucasian) [$x^2(4)$ 12.56, p=.01], age [F(1,72)=5.85, p=.02], WRAT-4 Reading standard score [F(1,72)=6.6, p=.01], and BDI-II depressive symptoms [F(1,72)=6.23, p=.02]. No differences were found between genotypes in gender [$x^2(1)$.91, p=.34], education [F(1,72)=.09, p=.77], income [F(1,72)=2.2, p=.14], or body mass index [F(1,71)=.08, p=.78].

Insert Table 1 Here

ALLELE FREQUENCIES

FAAH allele frequencies for 74 subjects were: 47 C/C carriers status and 27 A carriers status (see Table 1). A marginal difference was found between MJ users and controls in *FAAH* genotype [63% of MJ users were A carriers and 37.4% of controls were A carriers, $[x^2(1)2.86, p=.09]$.

DRUG USE INFORMATION

As expected, MJ users differed from controls in lifetime nicotine use $[x^2(6)22.75, p=.001]$, lifetime alcohol use $x^2(5)13.89, p=.02]$, lifetime MJ use $x^2(5)63.41, p=.001]$, lifetime other drug use (although this was limited) $[x^2(4)34.97, p=.001]$, cotinine level [F(1,71)=20.98, p=.001], past year nicotine use [F(1,72)=8.03, p=.006], past year alcohol

use [F(1,72)=6.37, p=.014], and past year MJ use [F(1,72)=15.94, p=.001] (see Table 1). No difference between past year other drug use existed between MJ users and controls [F(1,72)=3.49, p=.07].

C/C carriers and A carriers did not differ in past year Cahalan criteria [$x^2(5)8.94$, p=.11], lifetime nicotine use [$x^2(6)4.56$, p=.60], lifetime alcohol [use $x^2(5)5.72$, p=.34], lifetime MJ use [$x^2(5)3.06$, p=.69], lifetime other drug use [$x^2(4)2.59$, p=.63], cotinine level, [F(1,71)=2.58, p=.11], past year nicotine use [F(1,72)=.95, p=.33], past year alcohol use [F(1,72)=.003, p=.96], past year MJ use [F(1,72)=.42, p=.52], or past year other drug use [F(1,72)=1.32, p=.26] (see Table 1).

MULTIVARIATE RELATIONSHIPS

Aim 1 Regression Analysis: Gyrification: *MJ Group Status*. After controlling for WRAT-4 Reading scaled score, age, gender, ethnicity, past year alcohol use, cotinine levels, depressive symptoms, and *FAAH* genotype, MJ users demonstrated significantly increased gyrification in the LH DLPFC [t (63) = 3.0, beta=.40, p=.004] in comparison to controls (see Table 2). In contrast, MJ users demonstrated reduced gyrification in bilateral OFC (RH: [t (63) =-2.3, beta=-.32, p=.02] and LH: [t (62) = -1.97, beta=-.28, p=.05]), specifically, bilateral vmPFC (RH: [t (63) = -4.1, beta=-.54, p<.001] and LH: [t(63) = -4.1, beta=-.55, p<.001]); bilateral mPFC (RH: [t (63) = -3.6, beta=-.48, p=.001] and LH: [t (63) = -3.8, beta=-.51, p<.001]); and bilateral frontal poles (RH: [t (63) = -2.3, beta=-.31, p=.02]; LH: [t (63) = -2.998, beta=-.43, p=.004]). *FAAH Genotype*. *FAAH* genotype significantly predicted local gyrification index in the LH DLPFC [t (63) = -1.998, beta=-.25, p=.05], with C/C genotypes demonstrating increased gyrification compared to A carriers. **MJ* FAAH Interaction**. *FAAH* genotype interacted with MJ

group status to significantly predict gyrification in the LH OFC [t (62) = -2.1, beta=-.24, p=.04] in that the MJ users with CC genotype had increased gyrification while A carriers had decreased, the controls demonstrated no significant difference in gyrification between genotypes (see Figure 4). Covariates. Increased depressive symptoms predicted decreased gyrification in the LH DLPFC [t(63) = -3.1, beta = -.37, p = .003]. Gender predicted gyrification in bilateral PFC RH: [t(63) = -2.9, beta = -.37, p = .005] and LH: [t(63) = -3.6, beta = -.43, p = .001; bilateral OFC RH: [t (63) = -2.7, beta = -.33, p = .009] and LH: [t (63) = -3.1, beta = -.39, p = .003], specifically bilateral vIPFC RH: [t (63) = -2.2, p = .003]*beta*=-.28, *p*=.03] and LH: [t(63) = -2.3, *beta*=-.29, *p*=.03]; bilateral mPFC RH: [t(63) =-3.3, beta=-.38, p=.002] and LH: [t (63) = -2.4, beta=-.28, p=.02]; bilateral vmPFC RH: [t (63) = -3.5, beta = -.41, p = .001] and LH: [t (63) = -2.3, beta = -.28, p = .02]; and bilateral frontal pole RH: [t (63) = -2.95, beta = -.35, p = .004] and LH: [t (63) = -2.1, beta = -.27, beta = -.27, beta = -.27, beta = -.27]p=.04], such that women demonstrated reduced gyrification in each area mentioned. Ethnicity minority status predicted gyrification in the LH PFC [t(63) = -2.0, beta = -.25, p=.05], such that reduced gyrification was found for ethnic minorities compared to Caucasians. Age predicted gyrification in OFC (LH) [t (62) = -3.0, beta=-.37, p=.004], such that older age was associated with decreased gyrfication in this region.

Insert Table 2 Here

Aim 2 Regression Analysis: White Matter Integrity: *MJ Group Status*. After controlling for WRAT-4 Reading scaled score, age, gender, ethnicity (coded for Caucasian vs. minority status), past year alcohol use, cotinine levels, depressive

symptoms, and *FAAH* genotype, MJ users demonstrated increased MD in fminor [t (62) = 1.96, beta=.27, p=.05], bilateral UNC (RH: [t (62) = 2.3, beta=.32, p=.03] and LH: [t (62) = 2.2, beta=.31, p=.03]) (see Table 3). *FAAH Genotype*. *FAAH* genotype did not demonstrate any significant contributions. **MJ****FAAH* **Interaction**. *FAAH* genotype interacted with MJ Group status to significantly predict FA in fMinor [t (61) = 2.1, beta=.26, p=.04] and LH ATR [t (61) = 3.1, beta=.36, p=.003]. In the fMinor MJ users with C/C genotype demonstrated reduced integrity (FA), whereas the A carrier controls demonstrated reduced integrity (FA) (see Figure 5). In LH ATR, MJ users with C/C genotype demonstrated reduced integrity (FA) (see Figure 6).

Insert Figures 5 & 6 Here

Covariates. WRAT-4 Reading Standard Score predicted MD in the RH ATR [t (62) = -2.1, beta=-.28, p=.04], MD in the LH ATR [t (62) = -2.9, beta=-.37, p=.005], such that higher scores were associated with decreased MD. Ethnicity predicted MD in the RH ATR [t (62) = -2.3, beta=-.28, p=.02], such that ethnic minorities demonstrated reduced MD compared to Caucasians. Cotinine levels predicted decreased FA in the RH ATR [t (62) = -1.97, beta=-.24, p=.05], such that higher cotinine levels were associated with a decrease in FA. Increased depressive symptoms predicted increased MD in the LH ATR [t (62) = 2.8, beta=.34, p=.006]. See Table 3 for mean DTI values by group.

Insert Table 3 Here

Aim 3 Correlation Analysis: Brain-Behavior Relationships:

MJ Group. Pearson *r* correlation revealed a positive correlation with gyrification and LNS performance in the RH mPFC [r=.51, n=37, p=.001], RH vmPFC [r=.41, n=37, p=.01], and RH frontal pole [r=.45, n=37, p=.005], with high degree of gyrification associated with better performance. Additionally, there was a negative correlation with gyrification and color-word inhibition completion time in the LH vmPFC [r=-.32, n=37, p=.05], with increased gyrification associated with faster response times.

Within the WM, a positive correlation was observed in MD and PASAT total correct in the RH UNC [r=.38, n=37, p=.02], with higher MD associated with better performance time. Overall, both increased gyrification and increased MD were associated with improved working memory and faster response time on an inhibitory task.

Controls. Positive correlations were found with gyrification and complex attention in bilateral OFC: RH /PASAT: [r=.35, n=36, p=.04], RH /LNS: [r=.34, n=37, p=.04], and LH/PASAT: [r=.36, n=36, p=.03], with increased gyrification associated with better performance. A positive correlation was found between gyrification and PASAT correct in the RH frontal pole [r=.35, n=36, p=.04], with greater gyrification associated with better performance. No significant relationships were demonstrated for controls in WM tracts examined (fMinor and bilateral UNC). See Table 4 for mean neuropsychological performances by group and genotype.

Insert Table 4 Here

DISCUSSION

This study examined the relationship between the *FAAH* genotype, MJ group status, and brain structure (gyrification and WM integrity) in a sample of 18-25 year old emerging adults with and without chronic MJ use. Follow-up analyses assessed the brainbehavior relationships between significant structural findings and executive abilities, including complex attention and inhibition. Consistent with the predicted hypotheses, MJ users had reduced gyrification and poorer WM integrity in several PFC regions in comparison to matched controls. We also found that FAAH genotype mediated the impact of MJ use on structural characteristics. The primary results revealed significantly reduced gyrification in MJ users in comparison to controls in several PFC regions (bilateral OFC, bilateral mPFC and bilateral frontal poles), while one region showed an opposite relationship, with increased gyrification for MJ users (LH DLPFC). WM findings indicate an increase in MD for MJ users in the corpus callosum fMinor and bilateral UNC, suggesting poorer microstructural integrity in MJ using young adults. FAAH genotype findings indicate that A carriers, including both control and MJ users, had reduced gyrification in the LH DLPFC. MJ users with A genotype demonstrated reduced gyrification in the LH OFC; however, MJ users that were C/C carriers had reduced WM integrity in the fMinor and LH ATR. In controls, A carriers demonstrated reduced WM integrity in the fMinor. Therefore, the current study found abnormal gray matter and WM structure in emerging adult MJ users, and reduced gyrification was associated with poorer executive functioning, specifically complex attention and inhibition.

We found decreased gyrification in the MJ users in several PFC regions. This is consistent with prior research demonstrating aberrant PFC characteristics in MJ using youth (Churchwell et al., 2010; Gruber et al., 2011; Lopez-Larson et al., 2011; Medina et al., 2009; Price et al., under review; Wilson et al., 2000). Findings were also consistent with Mata and colleagues (2010), who found reduced sulcal concavity in frontal lobes of young adult MJ users in comparison to non-users. We found greater gyrification in the DLPFC LH of MJ users. This particular PFC region is the last to develop (Gogtay et al., 2004), and the mean age of this sample was 21.4. Thus, MJ users may have not undergone maturation in this region and evidence suggests asymmetries in maturation rates (see Toga & Thompson, 2003). Though the mechanisms driving gyrification are unclear, whether predominant influence is attributed to amount of connectivity and tension (Van Essen, 1997) or differential expansion of cortical layers (Richman et al., 1975; Ronan et al., 2013), both perspectives may be influenced by interruptions in myelination refinement, which may be related to poorer WM integrity in our sample (see WM section). Twin studies reveal that environmental stimuli or non-genetic influences greatly influence gyrification patterns (Bartley, Jones, & Weinberger, 1997), particularly within the PFC (Hasan et al., 2011). As PFC changes in sulcal and gyral complexity continue to extend into late adolescents (Blanton et al., 2001), environmental influences, including regular MJ use, during this developmental period may be detrimental to brain development and functioning (Becker et al., 2010; Gruber, Dahlgren, Sagar, Gönenc & Killgore 2012; Jager et al., 2010; see Lisdahl et al., 2013; Meier et al., 2012). During adolescence, neurotrophins involved in neuronal growth and pruning, play a key role in nervous system maturation (see Reichardt, 2006) and may be reduced in adult MJ users (Angelucci et al., 2008; D'Souza, Pittman, Perry, & Simen 2009). The impact of MJ use on in-vivo adolescent neurotrophin levels is unknown; however, divergent inter-cortical

growth rates and changes in connectivity are thought to impact gyrification patterns (Van Essen, 1997; Richman et al., 1975; White & Hilgetag, 2008; Ronan et al., 2013), which may be interrupted with adolescent MJ use increasing risk factors. For example, neurotrophic transcription may be altered as a result of physical activity (see Gomez-Pinilla, 2008; Trejo, Llorens-Martin, & Torres-Alemain, 2008) and adolescent MJ use has demonstrated an inverse relationship with physical activity (Winnail & Valois, 1995).

Among gray matter regions where MJ users differed from controls in gyrification indices [LH DLPFC, bilateral OFC, bilateral vmPFC, bilateral mPFC, and bilateral frontal poles], increased gyrification in right hemisphere: mPFC, vmPFC and frontal pole was associated with better performance on LNS total scores in MJ users. In controls, increased OFC gyrification and RH frontal pole was associated with better complex attention scores. The OFC has an important role in inhibiting reward-driven behavior and may be compromised in addicted individuals (Lubman, Yucel, & Pantelis, 2004). Ultimately, for both groups, increased gyrification was associated with better performance scores suggesting that functional benefit is gained with greater gyrification. Phylogeny of gyrification exposes an increase in surface area with minimal increases in cortical thickness (Welker, 1990), which serves to reduce volume expansion and maximize computational potential (see White et al., 2010).

In WM, we found increases in MD for MJ users in the fMinor and bilateral UNC, suggesting poorer microstructural integrity in MJ using young adults compared to nonusers. This is consistent with previous research indicating WM degradation in young MJ users (Arnone et al., 2008; Bava et al., 2009; Abou-Saleh, 2010; Yücel et al., 2010; Clark et al., 2012; Zalesky et al., 2012) and in a group with comorbid alcohol use (Ashtari et al., 2009). Additionally, the UNC may play an integral role in emotion regulation, as it serves to connect the amygdala with the PFC (see Stuss, 2002). Previous research reflects that greater FA in the UNC predicted lessened amygdala activation in adolescents, while increased amygdala activation to sad faces was associated with greater internalization of symptoms (Swartz, Carrasco, Wiggins, Thomason, & Monk, 2014), suggesting potential difficulties with emotional regulation. Thus, reduced WM integrity in fronto-limbic regions of MJ users, as seen with this study, may indicate disruption of WM refinement impacting executive control and affective regulation. Further, here we found evidence that supports a relationship between surface geometry and underlying WM integrity. MJ users demonstrated specific reductions in medial and ventral aspects of the PFC in addition to decreased WM integrity tracts that project directly to these cortical regions, offering additional support for the potential role of WM connectivity on gyrification (Van Essen, 1997).

There has been conflicting evidence relating *FAAH* genotype to behavioral outcomes (Tyndale et al., 2007; Filbey et a., 2010; Haughey et al., 2008; Schatch et a., 2009; Conzelmann et al., 2012; Hariri et al., 2009), however our study suggests that genotype may impact gray matter and WM differently. We found reduced gyrification for *FAAH* A carriers compared to C/C carriers in the left hemisphere DLPFC. We also found a significant MJ by *FAAH* interaction such that reduced gyrification was found in A carrying MJ users for the left hemisphere OFC. Genotype did not affect gyrification in this region for controls. Within WM, a significant interaction between *FAAH* genotype and MJ group status exposed relationships with FA measures of WM cohesion in fMinor and left hemisphere ATR. Reduced fMinor integrity in MJ users was observed in C/C

carriers; however, we found an opposite relationship in controls where A carriers had reduced WM integrity in this tract. We also found C/C carrying MJ users demonstrated reduced WM integrity in the left hemisphere of the ATR. Genotype did not impact the impact of WM integrity in the LH ATR for controls.

In youth, C/C genotype may increase risk associated with MJ use (Haughey et al., 2008; Schatch et a., 2009). Chronic MJ use may cause functional PFC changes in ECS (Hirvonen et al., 2012); for example, adolescent MJ users demonstrate reduced GLU levels within the PFC (Prescot, Locatelli, Renshaw, & Yurgelun-Todd, 2011). Reduced GLU may weaken neurons' ability to retain synaptic connections, as evidenced in animals (Won Chan, Hill, Zito, 2013). Further, animal models suggest that THC exposure during adolescence may increase abnormalities in several proteins related to cellular structure and oxidative state compared to adulthood (Quinn et al., 2008) and changes in CB1/G-protein coupling and CB1 receptor densities extending into adulthood (Rubino et al., 2008), which may underlie performance deficits and behavioral changes depending on the developmental stage of exposure (Schneider & Koch, 2003; Schneider & Koch, 2005; O'Shea, Singh, McGregor & Mallet, 2004). Therefore, in MJ users, the C/C genotype, associated with lower AEA (Sipe et al., 2010), may confer additional risk for neurocognitive consequences. However, the current results are mixed (MJ-using A carriers demonstrated reduced gyrification in DLPFC and OFC while C/C genotype was associated with poorer fMinor and ATR WM integrity). Therefore, additional research is needed to help clarify the relationship between FAAH genotype, MJ exposure and brain structure in youth.

In non-MJ using youth, A carrier status, which is associated with increased AEA levels (Sipe et al., 2010) may be detrimental to underlying structural complexity. CB₁ receptors undergo somatodendritic recycling and trafficking targeting axons (Leterrier et al., 2006), and agonist-induced desensitization may lower CB_1 receptor mobility (Mikasova, Groc, Choquet, & Manzoni, 2008). Therefore, chronic MJ use during youth may interrupt this process. ECS may also play a key role in myelination, which may be regulated via communication between oligodendrocytes and neurons (gray matter) (Simons & Trajkovic, 2006). We found A carrying controls had reduced WM integrity, the opposite of MJ-users. Increased cannabinoid signaling may enhance myelination in populations suffering myelination loss, as evidenced by animal models (Webb, Luo, Ying Ma, & Tham, 2008); however, in young adult controls enhanced ECS may be associated with poorer WM cohesiveness. In sum, aberrant ECS during emerging adulthood either through MJ use or genotype, may be associated with poorer brain characteristics and FAAH genotype may moderate the impact of adolescent MJ use on brain development and be tissue specific.

Insert Figure 7 Here

Among WM regions that differed between MJ users and controls [fMinor and bilateral UNC], there was one significant relationship that found reduced integrity in the right hemisphere UNC to be associated with increased performance on a working memory task. Though typical performance data suggests that increases in WM integrity are associated with improved performance (Tamnes et al., 2011), we found this untrue for one tract in MJ users only. This finding may be related to reduced affective interference during a demanding and stress-provoking task. Additionally, in controls, WM integrity was not associated with better or worse performance.

Chronic MJ use during adolescence and emerging adulthood appears to have negative influence on brain structure. Young adult users reflect demonstrate aberrant brain characteristics that are consistent with neuropsychological (Lisdahl & Price, 2012). Extensive cortical remodeling is occurring during adolescence (see Crews, He, & Hodge, 2007), and the current study found that MJ use during this time was associated with reduced PFC gyrification and poorer underlying WM integrity. ECS appears to be important for brain maturation and reliance on CB₁ binding may increase in adulthood (Verdurand et al., 2011). Consequently, chronic emerging adult MJ use may interfere with brain maturation.

Limitations. Alcohol and MJ remain highly comorbid (Johnston et al., 2011b). Although the current study statistically controlled for alcohol and excluded "very heavy" drinkers (according to Calahan criteria), it is possible that some of the findings are associated with combined or *simultaneous* MJ and alcohol use. For example, WM integrity differences have been found in samples combining MJ and alcohol use may impact WM tracts in adolescents and young adults (Jacobus, Squeglia, Infante, Bava, & Tapert, 2013; Bava, Jacobus, Thayer, & Tapert, 2013; Jacobus, Squeglia, Bava, & Tapert, 2013; Bava, et al., 2010; Bava et al., 2009), though combined MJ and alcohol use may be less detrimental on WM integrity than binge-drinking alone (Jacobus et al., 2009). Future studies may want to investigate differences in simultaneous MJ and alcohol use versus separate occasion uses of each substance.

Another potential limitation of the current study is that it is difficult to determine what results are due to premorbid differences that may have been present prior to MJ exposure. For example, one longitudinal study suggests that smaller OFC predicts MJ use during adolescence, although this sample included current or past psychiatric diagnoses (Cheetham et al., 2012). Conversely, prospective longitudinal findings have demonstrated a decline in intellectual and neuropsychological functioning among adolescent-onset (before age 18) even after cessation of 1 or more years (Meier et al., 2012), indicating that early MJ use may affect the developing brain such that individuals never achieve their estimated intellectual performance even with sustained abstinence. This aligns with marked neuronal changes in animal models when exposure occurs during adolescence (Schneider & Koch, 2003; O'Shea et al., 2004; Cha, White, Kuhn, Wilson, & Swartzwelder, 2006; Quinn et al., 2008; Rubino, & Parolaro, 2008). In general, some recovery in functioning may be experienced with discontinued use (Schwartz et al., 1989; Fried et al., 2005; Hanson et al., 2010; Tait et al., 2011); however, full IQ potential may not be reached with adult abstinence (Meier et al., 2012).

Conclusions. Overall, this study demonstrates that regular MJ use impacts brain structure in adolescents and young adults. Specifically, we found general decreases in gray matter gyrification and decreased WM integrity in adolescent MJ users, which was moderated in some regions by *FAAH* genotype. Therefore, it is an important public health priority to delay the onset of regular MJ use until neuronal maturation has been reached (see Lisdahl et al., 2013).



Figure 1: Study Design (Aims 1 & 2) –Impact of MJ, *FAAH* Genotype, and MJ x FAAH on Gyrification and WM Integrity).

Figure 2: Study Design (Aim 3) –Correlation of Significantly Divergent Regions Between MJ Users and Controls and Executive Functioning Performance.







Image obtained from Schaer and colleagues (2012). NOTE: For this study, LGI was obtained and analyzed using SPSS and did not use FreeSurfer's statistical program.



Figure 4: Mean Gyrification for OFC (LH) varies by *FAAH* genotype in MJ users.



Figure 5: Mean FA for fMinor varies by group and FAAH genotype.

Error bars: +/- 1 SE



Figure 6: Mean FA for ATR (LH) varies by FAAH genotype in MJ users.

Error bars: +/- 1 SE



Figure 7. Theoretical Influence of ECS on Brain Complexity.

	MJ Users	Controls	FAAH	FAAH
	(n = 37)	(n = 37)	Carrier of A	C/C
			(n = 27)	(n = 47)
Age	21.4	21.1	22.07	20.74
	(2.42)	(2.3)	(2.25)*	(2.29)*
	[18 – 25]	[18 – 25]	[18 – 25]	[18 – 25]
% Female	35.1%	54.1%	51.9%	40.4%
% Caucasian	64.9%	64.9%	44.4%**	76.6% **
FAAH genotype C/C%	42.6%	57.4%		
WRAT-4 Reading	102.92	101.08	97.04	104.85
Standard Score	(15.66)	(9.97)	(10.05)**	(13.83)**
	[73 – 134]	[81 - 120]	[80 - 120]	[73 – 134]
Education	13.32 (1.97)	13.84 (1.71)	13.67 (2.08)	13.53 (1.73)
	[9–19]	[11 – 18]	[9-19]	[11 – 18]
Beck Depression	5.11	3.43	2.93	5.04
Inventory Total-2	(3.75)*	(3.35)*	(2.46)*	(3.98)*
	[0 - 17]	[0 - 14]	[0 - 8]	[0 - 17]
Past year nicotine use	1696.92	448.35	775.37	1243.40
	(2459.63)**	(1065.31)**	(1182.83)	(2318.90)
	[0 – 7350]	[0 - 3680]	[0-3680]	[0-7350]
Cotinine levels	3.83	1.41	3.22	2.24
	(2.4)**	(2.11)**	(2.53)	(2.53)
	[0 - 6]	[0-6]	[0-6]	[0-6]
Past year alcohol	277.73	111.43	192.26	195.91
use	(363.56)**	(168.67)**	(331.80)	(273.13)
	[0-1724]	[0 - 878]	[2-1724]	[0-1238]
Past year	490.62	.84	303.19	212.72
marijuana use	(746.17)**	(2.23)**	(445.17)	(645.87)
	[4 – 3895]	[0 - 10]	[0-1662]	[0-3895]
Past year other	8.92	.12	.89	6.6
drug use	(28.70)	(.52)	(2.4)	(25.7)
	[0 - 171]	[0-3]	[0 - 12]	[0 - 171]

Table 1. Demographic & Substance Use Information According to Group & Genotype.

Notes:* p<.05; ** p<.01.

	Marijuan (n =	a Users 37)	Controls (n = 37)	
LGI	M (SD) Range		M (SD)	Range
Prefrontal Cortex (RH)	2.94 (0.23)	2.63-3.94	3.03 (0.50)	2.48-5.24
Prefrontal Cortex (LH)	2.89 (0.18)	2.56-3.36	2.89 (0.17)	2.47-3.22
DLPFC (RH)	3.58 (0.32)	2.61-4.80	3.44 (0.65)	2.46-6.06
DLPFC (LH)	3.58 (0.30)**	2.69-4.23	3.32 (0.41)**	2.62-4.05
OFC (RH)	2.64 (0.26)*	2.02-3.54	2.80 (0.43)*	2.39-4.80
OFC (LH)	2.58 (0.18)*	2.17-2.93	2.66 (0.21)*	2.39-3.47
mPFC (RH)	2.19 (0.21)**	1.93-2.91	2.55 (0.61)**	1.85-4.58
mPFC (LH)	2.09 (0.19)**	1.82-2.84	2.37 (0.43)**	1.79-3.33
vmPFC (RH)	2.11 (0.23)**	1.72-2.98	2.45 (0.54)**	1.80-4.20
vmPFC(LH)	1.99 (0.17)**	1.76-2.67	2.31 (0.47)**	1.83-3.85
vlPFC (RH)	2.79 (0.28)	2.11-3.65	2.91 (0.46)	2.47-4.93
vlPFC (LH)	2.79 (0.22)	2.34-3.20	2.79 (0.19)	2.41-3.32
Frontal Pole (RH)	2.23 (0.18)*	1.92-2.87	2.42 (0.44)*	1.89-3.81
Frontal Pole (LH)	2.07 (0.16)**	1.74-2.47	2.23 (0.29)**	1.88-2.91

Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Local Gyrification Indices According to Group.

Notes: * p<.05; ** p<.01.

	Marijuana Users		Controls	
	(n = 37)		(n = 37)	
DTI	M (SD)	Range	M (SD)	Range
ATR- MD (RH)	0.0008 (0.00007)	0.0007-0.001	0.0008 (0.0001)	0.0003-0.0009
ATR- FA (RH)	0.41 (0.06)	0.26-0.50	0.44 (0.05)	0.28-0.55
ATR- MD (LH)	0.0008 (0.00007)	0.0007-0.001	0.0008 (0.0001)	0.0004-0.001
ATR- FA (LH)	0.41 (0.07)	0.27-0.53	0.44 (0.049)	0.29-0.57
UNC- MD (RH)	0.0009 (0.00008)*	0.0007-0.001	0.0008 (0.0001)*	0.0003-0.001
UNC- FA (RH)	0.38 (0.07)	0.20-0.51	0.40 (0.06)	0.23-0.52
UNC- MD (LH)	0.0009 (0.0001)*	0.0008-0.001	0.0008 (0.0001)*	0.0004-0.001
UNC- FA (LH)	0.36 (0.07)	0.19-0.48	0.40 (0.06)	0.24-0.50
fMinor- MD	0.0009 (0.0001)*	0.0007-0.001	0.0008 (0.0001)*	0.0004-0.001
fMinor- FA	0.48 (0.09)	0.27-0.62	0.51 (0.08)	0.28-0.66

Table 3. Descriptive Statistics of Diffusion Tensor Imaging Values According by Group.

Notes: ATR-Anterior Thalamic Radiation; UNC- Uncinate Fasciculus; fMinor- Corpus Callosum Forceps Minor; * p<.05; ** p<.01

	Neuropsychological Performance			
Group	LNS total	PASAT total	D-KEFS Color-Word time	
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	
	[range]	[range]	[range]	
Marijuana Users	11.68 (2.82)	36.7 (10.1)	45.8 (9.77)	
	[6-16]	[15-57]	[27-70]	
	(n=37)	(n=37)	(n=37)	
Controls	11.7 (2.72)	35.6 (12.9)	47.5 (9.6)	
	8-18	11-59	27-73	
	(n=37)	(n=36)	(n=37)	

Table 4. Descriptive Statistics of Neuropsychological Performance by Group & Genotype.

	Neuropsychological Performance			
FAAH genotype	LNS total	PASAT total	D-KEFS Color-Word time	
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	
	[range]	[range]	[range]	
A carriers	11 (2.11)	34.4 (12.5)	50.3 (10.4)	
	[7-15]	[11-57]	[34-70]	
	(n=27)	(n=26)	(n=27)	
C/C carriers	12.1 (3.00)	37.1 (10.9)	44.6 (8.7)	
	[6-18]	[15-59]	[27-43]	
	(n=47)	(n=47)	(n=47)	

REFERENCES

- Abdullaev, Y., Posner, M. I., Nunnally, R., & Dishion, T. J. (2010). Functional MRI evidence for inefficient attentional control in adolescent chronic cannabis abuse. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *215*(1), 45-57. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2010.06.023
- Abou-Saleh, M. M. (2010). P03-237 Corpus callosum damage in heavy marijuana use: preliminary evidence from diffusion tensor tractography and tract-based spatial statistics. *European Psychiatry*, 251304. doi:10.1016/S0924-9338(10)71291-8
- Ahn, K., Johnson, D. S., Cravatt, B. F. (2009). Fatty acid amide hydrolase as a potential therapeutic target for the treatment of pain and CNS disorders. *Expert Opin Drug Discov.*, *4*(7):763–784.
- Amar, M. B. (2006). Cannabinoids in medicine: A review of their therapeutic potential. *Journal* of Ethnopharmacology, 105, 1–25.
- Angelucci, F., Ricci, V., Spalletta, G., Pomponi, M., Tonioni, F., Caltagirone, C., & Bria, P. (2008). Reduced serum concentrations of nerve growth factor, but not brain-derived neurotrophic factor, in chronic cannabis abusers. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, *18*(12), 882-887. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2008.07.008
- Arnone, D. D., Barrick, T. R., Chengappa, S. S., Mackay, C. E., Clark, C. A., & Abou-Saleh, M. T. (2008). Corpus callosum damage in heavy marijuana use: Preliminary evidence from diffusion tensor tractography and tract-based spatial statistics. *Neuroimage*, 41(3), 1067-1074. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.02.064
- Ashtari, M., Cervellione, K., Cottone, J., Ardekani, B.A., & Kumra, S. (2009). Diffusion abnormalities in adolescents and young adults with a history of heavy cannabis use. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, *43*(3), 189-204 doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2008.12.00
- Barnea-Goraly, N., Menon, V., Eckert, M., Tamm, L., Bammer, R., Karchemskiy, A., Dant, C. C. Reiss, A. L. (2005). White matter development during childhood and adolescence: a cross-sectional diffusion tensor imaging study. *Cereb. Cortex*, 15, pp. 1848–1854
- Bartholomew, J., Holroyd, S., & Heffernan, T. M. (2010). Does cannabis use affect prospective memory in young adults?. *Journal Of Psychopharmacology*, *24*(2), 241-246. doi:10.1177/0269881109106909
- Bartley, A. J., Jones, D. W., Weinberger, D. R. (1997). Genetic Variability of human brain size and cortical gyral patterns. *Brain*, 120 (2), 257-269.
- Bava, S., Frank, L. R., McQueeny, T., Schweinsburg, B. C., Schweinsburg, A. D., & Tapert, S. F. (2009). Altered white matter microstructure in adolescent substance users. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging Section*, 173 (3), 228-237. doi:10.1016 j.pscychresns.2009.04.005
- Bava, S., Jacobus, J., Mahmood, O., Yang, T. T., & Tapert, S. F. (2010). Neurocognitive correlates of white matter quality in adolescent substance users. *Brain & Cognition*, 72(3), 347-354. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2009.10.012
- Bava, S., Jacobus, J., Thayer, R. E., & Tapert, S. F. (2013). Longitudinal Changes in White Matter Integrity Among Adolescent Substance Users. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 37E181-E189. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01920.x
- Bava, S., & Tapert, S. F. (2010). Adolescent Brain Development and the Risk for Alcohol and Other Drug Problems. *Neuropsychology Review*, 20(4), 398-413. doi:10.1007/s11065-010-9146-6

- Bava, S., Thayer, R., Jacobus, J., Ward, M., Jernigan, T. L., & Tapert, S. F. (2010). Longitudinal characterization of white matter maturation during adolescence. *Brain Research*,132738-46. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.02.066
- Beaulieu, C., (2002). The basis of anisotropic water diffusion in the nervous system a technical review *NMR Biomed.* 15, pp. 435–455
- Beck, A.T., Steer, R.A., & Brown, G.K. (1996). *Beck Depression Inventory-II*. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation.
- Becker, B., Wagner, D., Gouzoulis-Mayfrank, E., Spuentrup, E., & Daumann, J. (2010). The impact of early-onset cannabis use on functional brain correlates of working memory. *Progress In Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 34(6), 837-845. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.03.032
- Bernard, C. C., Milh, M. M., Morozov, Y. M., Ben-Ari, Y. Y., Freund, T. F., & Gozlan, H. H. (2005). Altering cannabinoid signaling during development disrupts neuronal activity. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, 102(26), 9388-9393. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409641102
- Blanton, R.E., Levitt, J. G., Thompson, P. M., Narr, K. L., Capetillo-Cunliffe, L., Nobel, A., Singerman, J. D., McCracken, J. T., & Toga, A. W. (2001). Mapping cortical asymmetry and complexity patterns in normal children. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 107 (1), 29-43.
- Blednov, Y. A., Cravatt, B. F., Boehm 2nd, S. L, Walker, D., Harris, R. A. (2007). Role of endocannabinoids in alcohol consumption and intoxication: Studies of mice lacking fatty acid amide hydrolase. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 32, pp. 1570–1582
- Brown, S. A., Meyer, M. G., Lippke, L., Tapert, S. F., Stewart, D. G. & Vik, P. W. (1998). Psychometric evaluation of the customary drinking and drug use record (CDDR): A measure of adolescent alcohol and drug involvement. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 59, 427-438.
- Burston, J., Wiley, J., Craig, A., Selley, D., & Sim-Selley, L. (2010). Regional enhancement of cannabinoid CB1 receptor desensitization in female adolescent rats following repeated Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol exposure. *British Journal Of Pharmacology*, *161*(1), 103-112. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00870.x
- Bush, G., Luu, P., & Posner, M. I. (2000). Cognitive and emotional influence in anterior cingulate cortex. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *4*, 215–222.
- Casey, B. J., Jones, R. M., & Hare, T. A. (2008). The Adolescent Brain. Annals Of The New York Academy Of Sciences, 1124111-126. doi:10.1196/annals.1440.010
- Cha, Y. M., White, A. M., Kuhn, C. M., Wilson, W. A., and Swartzwelder, H. S. (2006).
 Differential effects of delta(9)-THC on learning in adolescent and adult rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 83, 448–455. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2006.03.006
- Cheetham, A., Allen, N. B., Whittle, S., Simmons, J. G., Yücel, M., & Lubman, D. I. (2012). Orbitofrontal Volumes in Early Adolescence Predict Initiation of Cannabis Use: A 4-Year Longitudinal and Prospective Study. *Biological Psychiatry*, 71(8), 684-692. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.10.029
- Chiang, K. P., Gerber, A. L., Sipe, J. C., Cravatt, B. F. (2004). Reduced cellular expression and activity of the P129T mutant of human fatty acid amide hydrolase: Evidence for a link between defects in the endocannabinoid system and problem drug use. *Hum Mol Genet.*, *13*:2113–2119.
- Churchwell, J. C., Lopez-Larson, M., and Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2010). Altered frontal

cortical volume and decision making in adolescent cannabis users. *Front. Psychol. 1*:225.doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2010.00225

- Clark, D. B., Chung, T., Thatcher, D. L., Pajtek, S., & Long, E. C. (2012). Psychological dysregulation, white matter disorganization and substance use disorders in adolescence. *Addiction*, *107*(1), 206-214. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03566.x
- Conzelmann, A., Reif, A., Jacob, C., Weyers, P., Lesch, K., Lutz, B., & Pauli, P. (2012). A polymorphism in the gene of the endocannabinoid-degrading enzyme FAAH (FAAH C385A) is associated with emotional-motivational reactivity. *Psychopharmacology*, 224(4), 573-579. doi:10.1007/s00213-012-2785-y
- Cousijn, J., Reinout, W.W., Ridderinkhof, R.K., van den Brink, W., Veltman, D.J., Goudriaan, A. E. (2012). Grey matter alterations associated with cannabis use: Results of a VBM study in heavy cannabis users and healthy controls. *NeuroImage*, 59, 3845-3851.
- Cox, R.W. (1996). Afni: Software for analysis and visualization of functional magnetic resonance neuroimages. *Comput Biomed Res*, 29, 162-73.
- Cravatt, B. F., Demarest, K., Patricelli, M. P., Bracey, M.H., Giang, D.K., Martin, B.R., et al. (2001). Supersensitivity to anandamide and enhanced endogenous cannabinoid signaling in mice lacking fatty acid amide hydrolase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 98:9371–9376.
- Crews, F., He, J., & Hodge, C. (2007). Adolescent cortical development: A critical period of vulnerability for addiction. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry & Behavior*, 86(2), 189-199. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2006.12.001
- Dale, A. M., Fischl, B., Sereno, M. I. (1999). Cortical surface-based analysis: I. segmentation and surface reconstruction. *NeuroImage*, 9 (2), 179-194.
- Delis, D. C.; Kaplan, E. Delis-Kaplan Executive Functioning Scale Manual. San Antonio, Texas: Psychological Corporation; 2000.
- DeLisi, L. E., Bertisch, H. C., Szulc, K. U., Majcher, M., Brown, K., Bappal, A., & Ardekani, B. A. (2006). A preliminary DTI study showing no brain structural change associated with adolescent cannabis use. *Harm Reduction Journal*, 317 (6). doi:10.1186/1477-7517-3-17
- Desikan, R. S., Segonne, F., Fischl, B., Quinn, B. T., Dickerson, B. C., Blacker, D., Buckner, R. L., Dale, A. M., Maguire, R. P., Hyman, B. T., Albert, M. S., Killiany, R. J. (2006). An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *Neuroimage*, 31, 968-980.
- Destrieux, C., Fischl, B., Dale, A., & Halgren, E. (2010). Automatic parcellation of human cortical gyri and sulci using standard anatomical nomenclature. *Neuroimage*, *53*(1), 1-15. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.06.010
- D'Souza, D., Pittman, B., Perry, E., & Simen, A. (2009). Preliminary evidence of cannabinoid effects on brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels in humans. *Psychopharmacology*, 202(4), 569-578. doi:10.1007/s00213-008-1333-2
- Egan, M. F., Kojima, M., Callicott, J. H., Goldberg, T. E., Kolachana, B. S., Bertolino, A., Zaitsev, E., Gold, B., Goldman, D., Dean, M., Lu, B., Weinberger, D. R. (2003). The BDNF val66met polymorphism affects activity-dependent secretion of BDNF and human memory and hippocampal function. *Cell;* 112:257–269.
- Egerton, A., Allison, C., Brett, R. R., & Pratt, J. A. (2006). Cannabinoids and prefrontal cortical function: Insights from preclinical studies. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 30(5), 680-695. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.12.002

- Egertova, M., Giang, D. K., Cravatt, B. F., Elphick, M. R. (1998). A new perspective on cannabinoid signalling: complementary localization of fatty acid amide hydrolase and the CB1 receptor in rat brain. *Proc Biol Sci*, *265*: 2081–5.
- Ehrenreich, H., Rinn, T., Kunert, H. J., Moeller, M. R., Poser, W., Schilling, L., & Hoehe, M. R. (1999). Specific attentional dysfunction in adults following early start of cannabis use. *Psychopharmacology*, 142(3), 295.
- Ellgren, M. M., Artmann, A. A., Tkalych, O. O., Gupta, A. A., Hansen, H. S., Hansen, S. H., & ... Hurd, Y. L. (2008). Dynamic changes of the endogenous cannabinoid and opioid mesocorticolimbic systems during adolescence: THC effects. European *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 18(11), 826-834. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2008.06.009
- Ernst, M., Pine, D. S., Harden, M. (2006). Triadic model of the neurobiology of motivated behavior in adolescence. *Psychological Medicine*, *36*(3), 299-312.
- Fergusson, D. M., Horwood, L., & Beautrais, A. L. (2003). RESEARCH REPORT Cannabis and educational achievement. *Addiction*, 98(12), 1681-1692. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2003.00573.x
- Fernández-Ruiz, J. J., Berrendero, F., Hernández, M. L., Romero, J., Ramos, J. A. (1999). Role of endocannabinoids in brain development. *Life Sci.*, 65 (6-7), 725–736.
- Fields, R. (2008). white Matter. Scientific American, 298(3), 54-61.
- Fields, R., & Stevens-Graham, B. (2002). New Insights into Neuron-Glia Communication. Science, 298 (5593), 556.
- Filbey, F. M., Schacht, J. P., Myers, U. S., Chavez, R. S., Hutchison, K. E. (2010). Individual and additive effects of the CNR1 and FAAH genes on brain response to marijuana cues. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35:967–975.
- First, M.B., Spitzer, R. L., Gibbon, M., & Williams, J. B. W. (2001). Clinical Interview for DSM-IVTR (SCID-I): User's Guide and In- terview–Research Version (New York: New York Psychiatric Insti- tute Biometrics Research Department).
- Fischl, B., & Dale, A. M. (2000). Measuring the thickness of the human cerebral cortex from magnetic resonance images. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, 97(20), 11050.
- Fischl, B., Salat, D. H., Busa, E., Albert, M., Dieterich, M., Haselgrove, C., van der Kouwe, A., Killiany, R., Kennedy, D., Klaveness, S., Montillo, A., Makris, N., Rosen, B., Dale, A.M. (2002). Whole brain segmentation: automated labeling of neuroanatomical structures in the human brain. *Neuron* 33, 341-355.
- Flanagan, J. M., Gerber, A. L., Cadet, J. L., Beutler, E., Sipe, J. (2006). The fatty acid amide hydrolase 385 A/A (P129T) variant: Haplotype analysis of an ancient missense mutation and validation of risk for drug addiction. *Hum Genet*, 120:581–588.
- Fontes, M. A., Bolla, K. I., Cunha, P. J., Almeida, P. P., Jungerman, F., Laranjeira, R. R., et al. (2011). Cannabis use before age 15 and subsequent executive functioning. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 198, 442–447. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.110.077479
- Fride, E. (2008). Multiple roles for the endocannabinoid system during the earliest stages of life: pre- and postnatal development. J. *Neuroendocrinol.*, *20*, 75–78.
- Fried, P. A., Watkinson, B. B., & Gray, R. R. (2005). Neurocognitive consequences of marihuana—a comparison with pre-drug performance. *Neurotoxicology & Teratology*, 27(2), 231-239. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2004.11.003

- Galvan, A., Hare, T. A., Parra, C. E., Penn, J., Voss, H., Glover, G., & Casey, B. J. (2006). Earlier Development of the Accumbens Relative to Orbitofrontal Cortex Might Underlie Risk- Taking Behavior in Adolescents. *Journal Of Neuroscience*, 26(25), 18.
- Giedd, J. N. (2004). Structural magnetic resonance imaging of the adolescent brain. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1021: 77-85.
- Giedd, J. N. (2008). The Teen Brain: Insights from Neuroimaging. J. of Adolescent Health, 42 (4), 335-343.
- Glaser, S. T., Abumrad, N.A., Fatade, F., Kackzocha, M., Studholme, K.M., Deutsch, D.G. (2003). Evidence against the presence of anandamide transporter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100:4269–4274.
- Gogtay, N., Giedd, J. N., Lusk, L., Hayashi, K. M., Greenstein, D., Vaituzis, A. C., Nugent, T. F., 3rd, Herman, D. H., Clasen, L. S., Toga, A. W., Rapo- port, J. L., Thompson, P. M. (2004). Dynamic mapping of human cortical development during childhood through earlyadult- hood. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 17:17.
- Gogtay, N., & Thompson, P. M. (2010). Mapping gray matter development: Implications for typical development and vulnerability to psychopathology. *Brain & Cognition*, 72(1), 6-15. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2009.08.009
- Goldberg, E. (2009). The new executive brain: Frontal lobes in a complex world. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Gomez-Pinilla, F. (2008). The influences of diet and exercise on mental health through hormesis. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 7(1), 49-62. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2007.04.003
- Gomez-Ruiz, M., Hernandez, M., de M. R., Ramos, J. A. (2007). An overview on the biochemistry of the cannabinoid system. *Mol Neurobiol*, *36*, 3-14.
- Gronwall, D. M. (1977). Paced auditory serial-addition task: a measure of recovery from concussion. *Percept Mot Skills*. *Apr*;44 (2):367–373
- Gruber, S. A., Dahlgren, M., Sagar, K. A., Gönenc, A., & Killgore, W. S. (2012). Age of onset of marijuana use impacts inhibitory processing. *Neuroscience Letters*, 511(2), 89-94. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2012.01.039
- Gruber, S. A., Silveri, M. M., Dahlgren, M. K., and Yurgelun-Todd, D. (2011). Why so impulsive? White matter alterations are associated with impulsivity in chronic marijuana smokers. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 19, 231–242.doi:10.1037/a0023034
- Gruber, S. A., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2005). Neuroimaging of marijuana smokers during inhibitory processing: a pilot investigation. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 23(1), 107-118. doi:10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2005.02.016g
- Hanson, K. L., Winward, J. L., Schweinsburg, A. D., Medina, K., Brown, S. A., & Tapert, S. F. (2010). Longitudinal study of cognition among adolescent marijuana users over three weeks of abstinence. *Addictive Behaviors*, 35(11), 970-976. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2010.06.012
- Hariri, A. R., Gorka, A., Hyde, L. W., Kimak, M., Halder, I., Ducci, F., & ... Manuck, S. B. (2009). Divergent Effects of Genetic Variation in Endocannabinoid Signaling on Human Threat- and Reward-Related Brain Function. *Biological Psychiatry*, 66(1), 9-16. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.10.047
- Harkany, T., Keimpema, E., Barabás, K., Mulder, J. (2008). Endocannabinoid functions controlling neuronal specification during brain development. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.*, 286, pp. S84–90.

- Harvey, M. A., Sellman, J. D., Porter, R. J., & Frampton, C. M. (2007). The relationship between non-acute adolescent cannabis use and cognition. *Drug & Alcohol Review*, 26(3), 309-319. doi:10.1080/09595230701247772
- Hasan, A., McIntosh, A., Droese, U., Schneider-Axmann, T., Lawrie, S., Moorhead, T., & ...Wobrock, T. (2011). Prefrontal cortex gyrification index in twins: an MRI study. *European Archives Of Psychiatry & Clinical Neuroscience*, 261(7), 459-465. doi:10.1007/s00406-011-0198-2
- Haughey, H. M., Marshall, E., Schacht, J. P., Louis, A., & Hutchison, K. E. (2008). Marijuana withdrawal and craving: influence of the cannabinoid receptor 1 (CNR1) and fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) genes. *Addiction*, 103(10), 1678-1686. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2008.02292.x
- Hill, M. N., McLaughlin, R. J., Bingham, B., Shrestha, L., Lee, T. Y., Gray, J., & ... Viau, V. (2010). Endogenous cannabinoid signaling is essential for stress adaptation. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, 107(20), 9406-9411.
- Hirvonen, J., Goodwin, R., Li, C., Terry, G., Zoghbi, S., Morse, C., & ... Innis, R. (2012). Reversible and regionally selective downregulation of brain cannabinoid CB1 receptors in chronic daily cannabis smokers. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 17(6), 642-649.
- Ho, W. S., Hillard, C. J. (2005) Modulators of endocannabinoid enzymic hydrolysis and membrane transport. *In: Cannabinoids*, *168* (Pertwee R, ed), pp 187–207. Freiburg: Springer.
- Howlett, A. C., Breivogel, C. S., Childers, S. R., Deadwyler, S. A., Hampson, R. E., Porrino, L. J, (2004). Cannabinoid physiology and pharmacology: 30 years of progress. *Neuropharmacology*, 47 Suppl 1:345-58.
- Huestegge, L., Radach, R., Kunert, H. J., and Heller, D. (2002). Visual search in longterm cannabis users with early age of onset. *Prog. Brain Res.* 140, 377–394. doi:10.1016/S0079- 6123(02)40064-7
- Iversen L. (2003). Cannabis and the brain. Brain, 126: 1252-70.
- Iversen, L. (2005). Long-term effects of exposure to cannabis. *Current Opinion In Pharmacology*, 5(1), 69-72. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2004.08.010
- Iwasaki, S., Ishiguro, H., Higuchi, S., Onaivi, E. S., Arinami, T. (2007). Association study between alcoholism and endocannabinoid metabolic enzyme genes encoding fatty acid amide hydrolase and monoglyceride lipase in a Japanese population. *Psychiatr Genet* 17:215–220.
- Jacobus, J. J., McQueeny, T. T., Bava, S. S., Schweinsburg, B. C., Frank, L. R., Yang, T. T., & Tapert, S. F. (2009). White matter integrity in adolescents with histories of marijuana use and binge drinking. *Neurotoxicology & Teratology*, 31(6), 349-355. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2009.07.006
- Jacobus, J., Squeglia, L. M., Bava, S., & Tapert, S. F. (2013). White matter characterization of adolescent binge drinking with and without co-occurring marijuana use: A 3-year investigation. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging Section*, 214(3), 374-381. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2013.07.014
- Jacobus, J., Squeglia, L. M., Infante, M., Bava, S., & Tapert, S. F. (2013). White Matter Integrity Pre- and Post Marijuana and Alcohol Initiation in Adolescence. *Brain Sciences (2076-3425)*, *3*(1), 396-414. doi:10.3390/brainsci3010396

- Jager, G., Block, R. I., Luilten, M., & Rarnsey, N. F. (2010). Cannabis Use and Memory Brain Function in Adolescent Boys: A Cross-Sectional Multicenter Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 49(6), 561-572. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2010.02.001
- Jager, G., & Ramsey, N. F. (2008). Long-Term Consequences of Adolescent Cannabis Exposure on the Development of Cognition, Brain Structure and Function: An Overview of Animal and Human Research. *Current Drug Abuse Reviews*, 1(2), 114-123.
- Johnston, L. D., O'Malley, P. M., Bachman, J. G., & Schulenberg, J. E. (2013). Monitoring the Future national survey results on drug use, 1975-2012. Volume II: College students and adults ages 19-50. Ann Arbor: Institute for Social Research, The University of Michigan, 400 pp.
- Johnston, L. D., O'Malley, P. M., Bachman, J. G., & Schulenberg, J. E. (December 14, 2011a). "Marijuana use continues to rise among U.S. teens, while alcohol use hits historic lows." University of Michigan News Service: Ann Arbor, MI. Retrieved 1/18/2012 from http://www.monitoringthefuture.org
- Johnston, L. D., O'Malley, P. M., Bachman, J. G., & Schulenberg, J. E. (2011b). Monitoring the Future national survey results on drug use, 1975-2010. Volume II: College students and adults ages 19-50 Ann Arbor: Institute for Social Research, The University of Michigan, 312 pp.
- Johnston, L. D., O'Malley, P. M., Bachman, J. G., & Schulenberg, J. E. (2011c). Monitoring the Future national survey results on drug use, 1975-2010. Volume I: Secondary school students. Ann Arbor: Institute for Social Research, The University of Michigan, 744 pp.
- Katona, I., & Freund, T. F. (2012). Multiple Functions of Endocannabinoid Signaling in the Brain. Annual Review Of Neuroscience, 35529-558. doi:10.1146/annurev-neuro-062111-150420
- Kelley, A. E. & Berridge, K. C. (2002). The Neuroscience of Natural Rewards: Relevance to Addictive Drugs. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *22*(9): 3306-3311
- Kelley, A. E., Schochet, C., Landry, F. (2004). Risk Taking and Novelty Seeking in Adolescence: Introduction to Part I. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1021: pp. 27-32.
- Kogan, N. M., Mechoulam, R. (2006). The chemistry of endocannabinoids. *J. Endocrinol Invest, 29* (Suppl 3), 3-14.
- Koob, G.F., & Volkow, N.D. (2010). Neurocircuitry of Addiction. Neuropsychopharmacology, 35(1), 217-238. doi:10.1038/npp.2009.110
- Kouri, E. M., Pope, Jr. H. G. (2000). Abstinence symptoms during withdrawal from chronic marijuana use. *Exp Clin Psychopharm* **8**: 483–492.
- Lane, S. D., Cherek, D. R., Tcheremissine, O. V., Steinberg, J. L., Sharon, J. L. Response perseveration and adaptation in heavy marijuana-smoking adolescents. *Addict Behav.*;32:977–90.
- Ledent, C., Valverde, O., Cossu, G., Petitet, F., Aubert, J., Beslot, F., & ... Parmentier, M. (1999). Unresponsiveness to Cannabinoids and Reduced Addictive Effects of Opiates in CB1 Receptor Knockout Mice. *Science*, 283 (5400), 401.
- Lenroot, R. K., & Giedd, J. N. (2006). Brain development in children and adolescents: Insights from anatomical magnetic resonance imaging. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*,

30(6), 718-729. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.06.001

- Leterrier, C., Lainé, J., Darmon, M., Boudin, H., Rossier, J., & Lenkei, Z. (2006). Constitutive Activation Drives Compartment-Selective Endocytosis and Axonal Targeting of Type 1 Cannabinoid Receptors. *Journal Of Neuroscience*, *26*(12), 3141-3153. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5437-05.2006
- Lezak, M. D. (1995). Neuropsychological assessment (3rd ed.). New York: Oxford Univ. Press.
- Lisdahl, K. M., Gilbart, E. R., Wright, N. E., Shollenbarger, S. G., & Tapert, S. F. (2013). Dare to delay? The impacts of adolescent alcohol and marijuana use onset on cognition, brain structure, and function. *Frontiers In Psychiatry*, *4*1-19. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00053
- Lisdahl, K. M., & Price, J. S. (2012). Increased Marijuana Use and Gender Predict Poorer Cognitive Functioning in Adolescents and Emerging Adults. *Journal Of The International Neuropsychological Society*, 18(4), 678-688. doi:10.1017/S1355617712000276
- Long, L. E., Lind, J., Webster, M., & Weickert, C. (2012). Developmental trajectory of the endocannabinoid system in human dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *BMC Neuroscience*, 13(1), 87-100. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-13-87
- Lopez-Larson, M. P., Bogorodzki, P., Rogowska, J., McGlade, E., King, J. B., Terry, J., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. (2011). Altered prefrontal and insular cortical thickness in adolescent marijuana users. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 220(1), 164-172.
- Lorenzetti, V., Lubman, D. I., Whittle, S., Solowij, N., Yucel, M. (2010). Structural MRI findings in long-term cannabis users: what do we know? *Subst. Use Misuse*, *45*, 1787-1808.
- Lubman, D. I. Yücel, M., Pantelis, C. (2004). Addiction, a condition of compulsive behavior? Neuroimaging and neuropsychological evidence of inhibitory dysregulation. *Addiction, 99*, 1491-1502.
- Lynskey, M. T., Heath, A. C., Bucholz, K. K., Slutske, W. S., Madden, P. F., Nelson, E. C., & ... Martin, N. G. (2003). Escalation of Drug Use in Early-Onset Cannabis Users vs Co-twin Controls. *JAMA*, 289(4), 427.
- Mackie, K. (2005). Distribution of cannabinoid receptors in the central and peripheral nervous system. *Handb Exp Pharmacol 168*: 299–325.
- Mamata, H., Mamata, Y., Westin, C. F., Shenton, M. E., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F. A., Maier, S. E. (2002). High-resolution line scan diffusion tensor MR imaging of white matter fiber tract anatomy. *AJNR Am. J. Neuroradiol, 23*, 67–75
- Manly, J. J., Jacobs, D. M., & Touradji, P. (2002). Reading level attenuates differences in neuropsychological test performance between African American and White elders. *Journal* of the International Neuropsychological Society, 8, 341-348.
- Mata, I., Perez-Iglesias, R., Roiz-Santiañez, R., Tordesillas-Gutierrez, D., Pazos, A., Gutierrez, A., & ... Crespo-Facorro, B. (2010). Gyrification brain abnormalities associated with adolescence and early-adulthood cannabis use. *Brain Research*, 1317297-304. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.12.069
- McFarland, M. J., Rakhshan, F. R., Wilson, J. L., Barker, E. L. (2004). Endocytic and cellular trafficking processes involved with uptake and metabolism of anandamide. *Exp Biol*, (Abstract) 397:8.

- McKinney, M. K., & Cravatt, B. F. (2005). STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF FATTY ACID AMIDE HYDROLASE. *Annual Review Of Biochemistry*, 74(1), 411-432. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.74.082803.133450
- McQueeny, T., Padula, C. B., Price, J., Medina, K., Logan, P., & Tapert, S. F. (2011). Gender effects on amygdala morphometry in adolescent marijuana users. Behavioural *Brain Research*, 224(1), 128-134. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.05.031
- Medina, K., Hanson, K. H., Schweinsburg, A. D., Cohen-Zion, M., Nagel, B. J., & Tapert, S. F. (2007). Neuropsychological functioning in adolescent marijuana users: Subtle deficits detectable after a month of abstinence. *Journal Of The International Neuropsychological Society*, 13(5), 807-820.
- Medina, K., McQueeny, T., Nagel, B. J., Hanson, K. L., Schweinsburg, A. D., & Tapert, S. F. (2008). Prefrontal Cortex Volumes in Adolescents With Alcohol Use Disorders: Unique Gender Effects. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 32(3), 386-394. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00602.x
- Medina, K., McQueeny, T., Nagel, B. J., Hanson, K. L., Yang, T. T., & Tapert, S. F. (2009). Prefrontal cortex morphometry in abstinent adolescent marijuana users: subtle gender effects. *Addiction Biology*, 14(4), 457-468. doi:10.1111/j.1369-1600.2009.00166.x
- Medina, K., Nagel, B. J., Park, A., McQueeny, T., & Tapert, S. F. (2007). Depressive symptoms in adolescents: associations with white matter volume and marijuana use. *Journal Of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, 48 (6), 592-600. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01728.x
- Medina, K., Nagel, B. J., & Tapert, S. F. (2010). Abnormal cerebellar morphometry in abstinent adolescent marijuana users. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging Section*, 182(2), 152-159. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2009.12.004
- Meier, M. H., Caspi, A., Ambler, A., Harrington, H., Houts, R., Keefe, R. E., & ... Moffit, E. E. (2012). Persistent cannabis users show neuropsychological decline from childhood to midlife. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, 109(40), 15980. doi:10.1073/pnas.l206820109
- Mikasova, L., Groc, L., Choquet, D., & Manzoni, O. J. (2008). Altered surface trafficking of presynaptic cannabinoid type 1 receptor in and out synaptic terminals parallels receptor desensitization. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, 105(47), 18596-18601. doi:10.1073/pnas.0805959105
- Mohanty, A., Engels, A. S., Herrington, J. D., Heller, W., Moon-Ho Ringo, H., Banich, M. T., & ... Miller, G. A. (2007). Differential engagement of anterior cingulate cortex subdivisions for cognitive and emotional function. *Psychophysiology*, 44(3), 343-351. doi:10.1111/j.1469-
- Moldrich, G., Wenger, T. (2000), Localization of the CB(1) cannabinoid receptor in the rat brain. An immunohistochemical study. *Peptides 21*:1735–1742.
- Molina-Holgado, E., Vela, J. M., Arevalo-Martin, A., Almazan, G., Molina-Holgado, F., Borrell, J., & Guaza, C. (2002). Cannabinoids Promote Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Survival: Involvement of Cannabinoid Receptors and Phosphatidylinositol-3 Kinase/Akt Signaling. *The J. of Neurosci, 22* (22), 9742-9753.
- Morita, Y., Ujike, H., Tanaka, Y., Uchida, N., Nomura, A., Ohtani, K. et al. (2005). A nonsynonymous polymorphism in the human fatty acid amide hydrolase gene did not associate with either methamphetamine dependence or schizophrenia. *Neurosci Lett*, *376*:182–187.

- Nestor, L., Roberts, G., Garavan, H., & Hester, R. (2008). Deficits in learning and memory: Parahippocampal hyperactivity and frontocortical hypoactivity in cannabis users. *Neuroimage*, 40(3), 1328-1339. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.12.059
- Nichols, T.E., Holmes, A.P. (2002). Nonparametric permutation tests for functional neuroimaging: a primer with examples. *Human Brain Mapping*, 15, 1–25.
- Onaivi, E. S., Leonard, C. M., Ishiguro, H., Zhang, P. W., Lin, Z., Akinshola, B. E., Uhl, G. R. (2002). Endocannabinoids and cannabinoid receptor genetics. *Prog Neurobiol*, 66, pp. 307– 344.
- O'Shea, M., Singh, M. E., McGregor, I. S., & Mallet, P. E. (2004). Chronic cannabinoid exposure produces lasting memory impairment and increased anxiety in adolescent but not adult rats. *Journal Of Psychopharmacology*, *18*(4), 502-508.
- Paul, R. H., Grieve, S. M., Niaura, R., David, S. P., Laidlaw, D. H., Cohen, R., & ... Gordon, E. (2008). Chronic cigarette smoking and the microstructural integrity of white matter in healthy adults: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 10(1), 137-147. doi:10.1080/14622200701767829
- Pfefferbaum, A., Sullivan, E. V. (2002). Microstructural but not macrostructural disruption of white matter in women with chronic alcoholism. *NeuroImage, Vol 15*(3), pp. 708-718.
- Pierpaoli, C., Jezzard, P., Basser, P. J., Barnett, A., & Di Chiro, G. (1996). Diffusion tensor MR imaging of the human brain. *Radiology*, 201(3), 637-648.
- Pope, H., Jr., Gruber, A., Hudson, J., Cohane, G., Huestis, M., Yurgelun-Todd, D. (2003). Earlyonset cannabis use and cognitive deficits: what is the nature of the association?. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence, 69* (3):303.
- Pope, H. G., Jacobs, A., Jr., Mialet, J.P., Yurgelun-Todd, D., Gruber, S. (1997). Evidence for a sex-specific residual effect of cannabis on visuospatial memory. *Psychother Psychosom*, 66(4):179–184.
- Prescot, A. P., Locatelli, A. E., Renshaw, P. F., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2011). Neurochemical alterations in adolescent chronic marijuana smokers: A proton MRS study. *Neuroimage*, 57(1), 69-75. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.02.044
- Price, J. S., McQueeny, T., Shollenbarger, S. G., Browning, E. L., Wieser, J., Lisdahl, K. M. (Under Review). Effects of marijuana use on prefrontal and parietal volumes and cognition in emerging adults.
- Proudnikov, D., Kroslak, T., Sipe, J. C., Randesi, M., Li, D., Hamon, S., Ho, A., Ott, J., Kreek, M. J. (2010). Association of polymorphisms of the cannabinoid receptor (CNR1) and fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) genes with heroin addiction: impact of long repeats of CNR1.*Pharmacogenomics J* 10:232–242.
- Qiu, M., Li, Q., Liu, G., Xie, B., & Wang, J. (2010). Voxel-based analysis of white matter during adolescence and young adulthood. *Brain & Development*, 32(7), 531-537. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2009.08.006
- Quinn, H. R., Matsumoto, I., Callaghan, P. D., Long, L. E., Arnold, J. C., Gunasekaran, N., & ... McGregor, I. S. (2008). Adolescent Rats Find Repeated Δ9-THC Less Aversive Than Adult Rats but Display Greater Residual Cognitive Deficits and Changes in Hippocampal Protein Expression Following Exposure. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 33(6)1113-1126. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301475

- Realini, N. N., Rubino, T. T., & Parolaro, D. D. (2009). Neurobiological alterations at adult age triggered by adolescent exposure to cannabinoids. *Pharmacological Research*, 60(2), 132-138. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2009.03.006
- Reichardt, L. F. (2006). Neurotrophin-regulated signaling pathways. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 361,* (29), 1545-1564. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2006.1894
- Richman, D. P., Stewart, R. M., Hutchinson, J. W., & Caviness, V. S. Jr., (1975). Mechanical model of brain convolutional development. Science, 189(4196), 18–21.
- Ronan, L., Voets, N., Catarina, R., Alexander-Bloch, A., Hough, M., Mackay, C., Crow, T.J., James, A., Giedd, J.N., & Fletcher, P.C. (2013). Differential tangential expansion as a mechanism for cortical gyrification. *Cereb. Cortex*, March. doi:10.1093/cercor/bht082
- Rubino, T. T., & Parolaro, D. D. (2008). Long lasting consequences of cannabis exposure in adolescence. *Molecular & Cellular Endocrinology*, 286(1/2), S108-S113. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2008.02.003
- Rubino, T., Vigano, D., Realini, N., Guidali, C., Braida, D., Capurro, V., Castiglioni, C., Cherubino, F., Romualdi, P., Candeletti, S., Sala, M., Parolaro, D. (2008) Chronic delta 9tetrahydrocannabinol during adolescence provokes sex-dependent changes in the emotional profile in adult rats: behavioral and biochemical correlates. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 33:2760–2771
- Schacht, J., Selling, R., & Hutchison, K. (2009). Intermediate cannabis dependence phenotypes and the FAAH C385A variant: an exploratory analysis. *Psychopharmacology*, 203(3), 511-517. doi:10.1007/s00213-008-1397-z
- Schaer, M., Cuadra, M. B., Tamarit, L., Lazeyras, F., Eliez, S., & Thiran, J.-P. (2008). A surfacebased approach to quantify local cortical gyrification. *IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging*, 27 (2), 161-170.
- Schaer, M., Cuadra, M. B., Schmansky, N., Fischl, B., Thiran, JP., Eliez, S. (2012). How to Measure Cortical Folding from MR Images: A Step-by-Step Tutorial to Compute Local Gyrification Index. J. Vis. Exp. (59), e3417, DOI: 10.37913417.
- Schmithorst, V. J., Wilke, M., Dardzinski, B. J., Holland, S. K. (2002). Correlation of white matter diffusivity and anisotropy with age during childhood and adolescence: A crosssectional diffusion-tensor mr imaging study. *Radiology*, 222 (1), 212-218.
- Schneider, M., & Koch, M. (2003). Chronic Pubertal, but not Adult Chronic Cannabinoid Treatment Impairs Sensorimotor Gating, Recognition Memory, and the Performance in a Progressive Ratio Task in Adult Rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 28(10),1760-1769. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300225
- Schneider, M., & Koch, M. (2005). Deficient Social and Play Behavior in Juvenile and Adult Rats after Neonatal Cortical Lesion: Effects of Chronic Pubertal Cannabinoid Treatment. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 30(5), 944-957. doi10.1038/sj.npp.1300634
- Schwartz, R. H., Gruenewald, P. J., Klitzner, M., and Fedio, P. (1989). Short-term memory impairment in cannabis-dependent adolescents. *Am. J. Dis. Child.* 143, 1214–1219.
- Schweinsburg, A. D., Brown, S. A., Tapert, S. F. (2008). The influence of marijuana use on neurocognitive functioning in adolescents. Curr. *Drug Abuse Rev.*, 1 99–111.
- Schweinsburg, A. D., Schweinsburg, B. C., Cheung, E. H., Brown, G. G., Brown, S. A., & Tapert, S. F. (2005). fMRI response to spatial working memory in adolescents with comorbid

marijuana and alcohol use disorders. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 79(2), 201-210. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2005.01.009

- Schweinsburg, A., Schweinsburg, B. C., Medina, K., McQueeny, T., Brown, S. A., & Tapert, S. F. (2010). The Influence of Recency of Use on fMRI Response During Spatial Working Memory in Adolescent Marijuana Users. *Journal Of Psychoactive Drugs*, 42 (3), 401-412.
- Shapiro, G. K., & Buckley-Hunter, L. (2010). What every adolescent needs to know: Cannabis can cause psychosis. *Journal Of Psychosomatic Research*, 69(6), 533-539. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2010.04.002
- Simons, M., & Trajkovic, K. (2006). Neuron-glia communication in the control of oligodendrocyte function and myelin biogenesis. *Journal Of Cell Science*, 119(21), 2.
- Sipe, J. C., Chiang, K., Gerber, A. L., Beutler, E., Cravatt, B. F. (2002). A missense mutation in human fatty acid amide hydrolase associated with problem drug use. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, *99*: 8394–9.
- Sipe, J. C., Scott, T., Murray, S., Harismendy, O., Simon, G. M., Cravatt, B. F., & Waalen, J. (2010). Biomarkers of Endocannabinoid System Activation in Severe Obesity. *Plos ONE*, 5(1), 1-6. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008792
- Skinner, R. R., Conlon, L. L., Gibbons, D. D., & McDonald, C. C. (2011). Cannabis use and non-clinical dimensions of psychosis in university students presenting to primary care. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 123(1), 21-27. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2010.01546.x
- Sobell, L. C., Maisto, S. A., Sobell, M. B., & Cooper, A. M. (1979). Reliability of alcohol abusers' self-reports of drinking behavior. *Behav Res Ther.* 17 (2), 157-160.
- Solinas, M., Tanda, G., Justinova, Z., Wertheim, C. E., Yasar, S., Piomelli, D. et al. (2007). The endogenous cannabinoid anandamide produces delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol-like discriminative and neurochemical effects that are enhanced by inhibition of fatty acid amide hydrolase but not by inhibition of anandamide transport. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, *321*, 370–380.
- Solowij, N., Jones, K. A., Rozman, M. E., Davis, S. M., Ciarrochi, J., Heaven, P. C., et al. (2012). Reflection impulsivity in adolescent cannabis users: a comparison with alcoholusing and non-substance-using ado- lescents. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 219, 575–586. doi:10.1007/s00213- 011-2486-y
- Stewart D. G. & Brown S. A. (1995). Withdrawal and dependency symptoms among adolescent alcohol and drug abusers. *Addiction, 90*, 627-635.
- Stuss, D. T. (2002). *Principles of Frontal Lobe Function*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Swartz, J. R., Carrasco, M., Wiggins, J., Thomason, M. E., & Monk, C. S. (2014). Age-related changes in the structure and function of prefrontal cortex–amygdala circuitry in children and adolescents: A multi-modal imaging approach. *Neuroimage*, *86*, 212-220. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.08.018
- Schwartz, R. H., Gruenewald, P. J., Klitzner, M., and Fedio, P. (1989). Short-term memory impairment in cannabis-dependent adolescents. Am J Dis Child. 143: 1214-9.
- Sun, J., Fang, Y., Chen, T., Guo, J., Yan, J., Song, S., & ... Liao, H. (2013). WIN55, 212-2 promotes differentiation of oligodendrocyte precursor cells and improve remyelination through regulation of the phosphorylation level of the ERK 1/2 via cannabinoid receptor 1 after stroke-induced demyelination. *Brain Research*, 1491225-235.

doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2012.11.006

- Szabo, B. & Schlicker, E. (2005). Effects of cannabinoids on neurotransmission. *Handb Exp Pharmacol, 168*:327–365.
- Tamnes, C. K., Fjell, A. M., Østby, Y., Westlye, L. T., Due-Tønnessen, P., Bjørnerud, A., & Walhovd, K. B. (2011). The brain dynamics of intellectual development: Waxing and waning white and gray matter. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(13), 3605-3611.
- Tait, R. J., Mackinnon, A., & Christensen, H. (2011). Cannabis use and cognitive function: 8-year trajectory in a young adult cohort. *Addiction*, 106(12), 2195-2203. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03574.x
- Tapert, S. F., Baratta, M. V., Abrantes, A. M., & Brown, S. A. (2002). Attention dysfunction predicts substance involvement in community youths. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41(6), 680-6.
- Tapert, S. F., Schweinsburg, A. D., Drummond, S. A., Paulus, M. P., Brown, S. A., Yang, T. T., & Frank, L. R. (2007). Functional MRI of inhibitory processing in abstinent adolescent marijuana users. *Psychopharmacology*, 194(2), 173-183. doi:10.1007/s00213-007-0823-y
- Teichner, G., Donohue, B., Crum, T. A., Azrin, N. H., Golden, C. J. (2000). The relationship of neuropsychological functioning to measures of substance use in an adolescent drug abusing sample. *Int J Neurosci.*;104:113–24.
- Terry, G. E., Liow, J., Zoghbi, S. S., Hirvonen, J., Farris, A. G., Lerner, A., & ... Innis, R. B. (2009). Quantitation of cannabinoid CB1 receptors in healthy human brain using positron emission tomography and an inverse agonist radioligand. *Neuroimage*, 48(2), 362-370. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.059
- Toga, A. W., & Thompson, P. M. (2003). Mapping brain asymmetry. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *4*(1), 37.
- Toga, A. W., Thompson, P. M., & Sowell, E. R. (2006). Mapping brain maturation. *Trends In* Neurosciences, 29(3), 148-159. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2006.01.007
- Trejo, J. L., LLorens-Martín, M. V., & Torres-Alemán, I. I. (2008). The effects of exercise on spatial learning and anxiety-like behavior are mediated by an IGF-I-dependent mechanism related to hippocampal neurogenesis. *MCN: Molecular & Cellular Neuroscience*, 37(2), 402-411. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2007.10.016
- Trezza, V., Cuomo, V., & Vanderschuren, L.J. (2008). Cannabis and the developing brain: Insights from behavior. *European Journal Of Pharmacology*, 585(2/3), 441-452. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2008.01.058
- Tyndale, R. F., Payne, J.I., Gerber, A.L., Sipe, J.C. (2007). The fatty acid amide hydrolase C385A (P129T) missense variant in cannabis users: studies of drug use and dependence in Caucasians. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet.*, 5;144 (5): 660–6.
- Ullén, F. (2009). Is activity regulation of late myelination a plastic mechanism in the human nervous system? *Neuron Glia Biology*, *5*(1-2), pp 29-34.
- Van Essen, D. C. (1997). A tension-based theory of morphogenesis and compact wiring in the central nervous system. *Nature*, *385*(6614), 313.
- Verdejo-García, A., López-Torrecillas, F., Giménez, C., & Pérez-García, M. (2004). Clinical Implications and Methodological Challenges in the Study of the Neuropsychological Correlates of Cannabis, Stimulant, and Opioid Abuse. *Neuropsychology Review*, 14(1), 1-41.

- Verdurand, M., Nguyen, V., Stark, D., Zahra, D., Gregoire, M., Greguric, I., & Zavitsanou, K. (2011). Comparison of Cannabinoid CB1 Receptor Binding in Adolescent and Adult Rats: A Positron Emission Tomography Study Using [18F]MK-9470. *International Journal Of Molecular Imaging*, 1-11. doi:10.1155/2011/548123
- Villares J. (2007). Chronic use of marijuana decreases cannabinoid receptor binding and mRNA expression in the human brain. *Neuroscience*, 145:323–334.
- Wallace, G. L., Robustelli, B., Dankner, N., Kenworthy, L., Giedd, J. N., & Martin, A. (2013). Increased gyrification, but comparable surface area in adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Brain: A Journal Of Neurology*, 136(6), 1956-1967.
- Webb, M., Luo, L., Ma, J., & Tham, C. (2008). Genetic deletion of Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase results in improved long-term outcome in chronic autoimmune encephalitis. *Neuroscience Letters*, 439(1), 106-110.doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.04.090
- Wechsler, D. (1999). Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence. The Psych Corp: San Antonio, TX.
- Welker, W. (1990). Why does cerebral cortex fissure and fold. E.G. Jones, A. Peters (Eds.), Cerebral Cortex, Plenum Press, New York, pp. 3-136.
- White, T., Su, S., Schmidt, M., Kao, C., & Sapiro, G. (2010). The development of gyrification in childhood and adolescence. *Brain & Cognition*, 72(1), 36-45. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2009.10.009
- White, T., & Hilgetag, C. C. (2008). Gyrification of the human brain. In C. A. Nelson & M. Luciana (Eds.), Developmental cognitive neuroscience. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Whitlow, C. T., Liguori, A., Brooke Livengood, L. L., Hart, S. L., Mussat-Whitlow, B. J., Lamborn, C. M., & ... Porrino, L. J. (2004). Long-term heavy marijuana users make costly decisions on a gambling task. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 76(1), 107-111. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2004.04.009
- Wilkinson, G. (2006). Wide Range Achievement Test, 4th Edition (WRAT-4) Manual. Wilmington, DE: Wide Range, Inc.
- Wilson, W., Mathew, R., Turkington, T., Hawk, T., Coleman, R. E., Provenzale, J. (2000). Brain morphological changes and early marijuana use: a magnetic resonance and positron emission tomography study. *Journal of Addictive Diseases 19*(1), 1-22.
- Winnail, S. D., & Valois, R. F. (1995). Relationship between physical activity level and cigarette, smokeless tobacco, and marijuana use. *Journal Of School Health*, 65(10), 438.
- Winsauer, P. J., Daniel, J. M., Filipeanu, C. M., Leonard, S. T., Hulst, J. L., Rodgers, S. P., & ... Sutton, J. L. (2011). Long-term behavioral and pharmacodynamic effects of delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol in female rats depend on ovarian hormone status. *Addiction Biology*, 16(1), 64-81. doi:10.1111/j.1369-1600.2010.00227.x
- Won Chan, O., Hill, T. C., & Zito, K. (2013). Synapse-specific and size-dependent mechanisms of spine structural plasticity accompanying synaptic weakening. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, 110(4), 1154-1155. doi:10.1073/pnas.1214705110
- Yendiki, A., Panneck, P., Srinivasan, P., Stevens, A., Zollei, L., Augustinack, J., Wang, R., Salat, D., Ehrlich, S., Behrens, T., Jbabdi, S., Gollub, R, & Fischl, B. (2011). Automated probabilistic reconstruction of white-matter pathways in health and disease using an atlas of

the underlying anatomy. Front. Neuroinform. 5: 23. doi: 10.3389/fninf.2011.00023

- Yücel, M., Zalesky, A., Takagi, M. J., Bora, E., Fornito, A., Ditchfield, M., & ... Lubman, D. I. (2010). White-matter abnormalities in adolescents with long-term inhalant and cannabis use: a diffusion magnetic resonance imaging study. *Journal Of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 35(6), 409-412. doi:10.1503/jpn.090177
- Yurgelun-Todd, D., (2007). Emotional and cognitive changes during Adolescence. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 17, 251–257.
- Yurgelun-Todd, D., Gruber, A. J., Hanson, R. A., Baird, A. A., Renshaw, P. F., Pope, H. G. Jr. (1998). Residual effects of marijuana use: an fMRI study. In: Harris LS (ed) Problems of drug dependence 1998: proceedings of the 60th annual scientific meeting, the college on problems of drug dependence.
- Zalesky, A., Solowij, N., Yücel, M., Lubman, D. I., Takagi, M., Harding, I. H., & ... Seal, M. (2012). Effect of long-term cannabis use on axonal fibre connectivity. Brain: A *Journal Of Neurology*, 135(7), 2245-2255.